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Independent auditor’s report 

To the Shareholders of Acorn Agri and Food Limited 

 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements    

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated and separate financial position of Acorn Agri and Food Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 

(together the Group) as at 29 February 2020, and  its consolidated and separate financial performance and its 

consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

What we have audited 

Acorn Agri and Food Limited’s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 11 to 86 

comprise: 

● the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 29 February 2020; 

● the consolidated and separate income statements for the year then ended; 

● the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

● the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

● the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended;  

● accounting policies; and 

● the notes to the financial statements.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

and separate financial statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.  

Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory 
Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 
3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 
(Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable to 
performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as 
applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) respectively. 
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Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the document titled “Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries financial statements for the 

year ended 29 February 2020”, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit and Risk Committee Report and 

the Certificate of the Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other 

information does not include the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we 

do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read 

the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 

Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 

Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 

going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 

Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these consolidated and separate financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
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a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.  

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.  

● Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 

of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and / or Company to 

cease to continue as a going concern.  

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

● Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 

for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 

our audit. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements   

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report 

that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Acorn Agri and Food Limited for 15 years. 

 

 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.  

Director: A Stemmet 

Registered Auditor  

Stellenbosch 

6 July 2020 



Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Directors' report for the year ended 29 February 2020

The Directors' annual report, which forms part of the Annual Financial Statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended
29 February 2020, is presented below.

1. Review of activities

Acorn Agri and Food Ltd is a leading South African vertically integrated agriculture and food group. Our divisions comprise of agricultural
inputs and services, including fuel, fresh fruit, food processing and health foods. We operate nationally.

2. Going concern

Acorn Agri and Food entered the Covid–19 lockdown with a strong balance sheet, positioning it well for the uncertain and volatile
business climate which is expected to continue for the immediate future. The Group’s future growth will still be driven by the successful
execution of its strategy, while continuing to manage cash flow and ensure that debt levels remain at the current levels.

Operating efficiencies initiatives aimed to reduce costs, lower working capital and improved productivity remains a key focus in all
companies.

3. Directors

Refer to General Information on page 1.

Directors' interests

At year-end, the Executive Directors of the Group and its subsidiaries own a shareholding of less than nine percent. The Non-executive
Directors of the Group and its subsidiaries own a shareholding of less than two percent.

Directors' employment contracts and trade limitations

At year-end, the Executive Directors of the Group and its subsidiaries were subject to either written employment agreements (regulating
their duties, remuneration, allowances, limitations, leave and notice periods), or appointed through the groups' management agreement
with Acorn Private Equity (Pty) Ltd.

Directors' remuneration

The Directors' remuneration for the year under review has been set out in note 50.

4. Company Secretary

The Company secretary of the Company is A Steyn:

Business address:

11 Donkin Street
Caledon
7230

5. Share capital

During the year under review, 6,313,155 ordinary shares were issued. During the previous year, 130,867,084 ordinary shares were
issued, which included an allotment on 2 May 2018, where each shareholder received nine additional shares, as capitalisation shares, in
respect of every one share held by that shareholder. The authorised share capital remained unchanged during the year. During the
previous year, the authorised share capital was increased. The authorised share capital consists of 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of no
par value. On the reporting date 144,687,400 (2019: 138,374,245)  were in issue.

6. Financial results, dividends and other financial matters

Dividend and capital distribution

An ordinary dividend of R0.40 per share was declared on 31 May 2019 and paid on 2 September 2019 (2019: R0.55) and a special
dividend of R0.15 was declared on 4 December 2019 and paid on 12 December 2019 (2019: R nil).

The Group Board resolved to declare an ordinary dividend of R0.60 per share to shareholders on register as at 29 June 2020,
payable on or before 31 July 2020.
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Directors' report for the year ended 29 February 2020

6. Financial results, dividends and other financial matters (continued)

Share trading

Acorn Agri and Food Ltd manages the over-the-counter trading internally. Trading is regularly reviewed by independent Internal
Auditors for compliance with the Memorandum of Incorporation and internal policies. Further information with regard to the
Company's shares can be obtained on Acorn Agri and Food Ltd's website.

The share trading procedures applied by Acorn Agri and Food Ltd places the trading outside the ambit of the Financial Markets Act,
19 of 2012 ("the Act") and requires bilateral negotiation between buyers and sellers. Unless the shares are ceded to Overberg Agri
Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd, the buyer will pay the purchase price directly to the seller. The amended systems and procedures were
implemented on the 17th of August 2015 to ensure Acorn Agri and Food Ltd falls outside the requirements of the Act.

Financial results

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Group for the year under review was R315 091 000 (2019: profit of R111 305 000). The
Group's headline loss attributable to equity holders amounted to R59 792 000 (2019: headline earnings of R99 367 000), with core
headline loss attributable to equity holders amounting to R70 202 000 (2019: core headline earnings of R133 696 000).

During the financial year the following extraordinary transactions took place:

 The Board have decided to dispose of the remaining investment held in Pioneer Foods Ltd, consisting of 4,500,000 shares.
The Group realised a profit from this transaction amounting to R190 683 557, after provision for tax of R78 647 273 was made.

 During the year impairments was recognised on the intangible assets of three of the subsidiaries in the Group -
- An impairment of R166,897,542 was recognised on the goodwill of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd;
- Impairments of R6,522,789 on goodwill, and R37,625,883 on other intangible assets, respectively, were recognised on 

the intangible assets of Montagu Dried Fruit and Nuts;
- Impairments of R44,481,265 on goodwill, and R114,862,408 on other intangible assets, respectively, were recognised 

on the intangible assets of Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd.

 The disposal of the Bear division in Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd was finalised during the year under review. As a
consequence of the Amalgamation Agreement between Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd and Overberg Agri Ltd, Acorn Agri and Food Ltd
had to issue 4,622,577 shares at R21.38 and 1,069,020 shares at R20.85 per share to the shareholders of Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd
on 14 June 2019 and 17 December 2019 respectively.

In the 2019 financial year the following extraordinary transactions took place:

 Overberg Agri Ltd and Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd entered into an Amalgamation Agreement whereby they amalgamated their
respective businesses into one combined entity, Acorn Agri and Food Ltd. In terms of IFRS3 Overberg Agri Ltd was indicated
as the accounting acquirer. The effective date was 2 May 2018.

Overberg Agri Ltd acquired all the investments held by Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd, by following the steps set out below:

1. In terms of an Exit Offer to existing Overberg Agri Ltd shareholders, 288,950 shares of shareholders who accepted the
offer, were repurchased on 30 April 2018 at R256 per share (pre the capitalisation issue);

2. The number of Overberg Agri Ltd shares held by Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd before the proposed amalgamation transaction,
was 1,997,270. These shares were repurchased on 2 May 2018, as part of the transaction at R256 per share;

3. Overberg Agri Ltd issued 8,219,910  consideration shares to the new shareholders for the acquired investments held by
Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd.  The acquisition date fair value of Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd was R1,993,828,903;

4. Thereafter, on the 2nd of May 2018, nine additional shares were allotted to each shareholder, as capitalisation shares, in
respect of every one share held by that shareholder.

The issued shares after implementation of the above steps was 137,302,770. For further details regarding the transaction,
please refer to the Circular issued by the Company on 7 February 2018 and available on its website.

 The Board have decided to dispose of part of the investment held in Pioneer Foods Ltd, consisting of 500,000 shares. The
Group realised a profit from this transaction amounting to R8 929 412, after provision for tax of R6 745 598 was made.

 During the year an additional impairment of R9 305 843 was recognised on the goodwill of one of the subsidiaries in the Group,
Boltfast (Pty) Ltd, as a result of the company's recent performance under difficult trading conditions.

9



Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Directors' report for the year ended 29 February 2020

6. Financial results, dividends and other financial matters (continued)

 On 28 February 2019, the Group entered into an asset-for-share agreement in terms of section 42 of the Income Tax Act,
whereby the shareholding that Acorn Agri and Food Ltd held in some of the subsidiary companies, was transferred to one of its
subsidiaries, AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd, in exchange for 100 000 ordinary shares issued by AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd to Acorn Agri and
Food Ltd for a consideration of R736,395,995. The subsidiary companies' shareholding that was transferred are AAF Services
(Pty) Ltd (1 000 ordinary shares), ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd (4 430 ordinary and 1 069 preference shares), Boltfast (Pty) Ltd (100
ordinary shares), Bontebok Limeworks (20 000 ordinary shares), Bredasdorp Slagpale (638 500 ordinary shares), Lesotho
Milling (84 972 ordinary shares) and Overberg Agri Bedrywe (79 238 112 ordinary shares).

 On 28 February 2019, the Company entered into an asset-for-share agreement in terms of section 42 of the Income Tax Act,
whereby the shareholding that Acorn Agri and Food Ltd held in Acorn Health Foods (Pty) Ltd, being 9 000 ordinary shares, was
transferred to one of its subsidiaries, AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd, in exchange for 10 739 ordinary shares issued by the Company to
Acorn Agri and Food Ltd for a consideration of R531,350,000.

 On 28 February 2019, one of the subsidiaries in the Group, AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd, acquired 300 000 treasury shares in Acorn
Agri and Food Ltd for a consideration of R6,000,000.

The results of the Group are presented in detail in the financial statements.

7. Mining licence

A converted mining right awarded to one of the subsidiaries in the Group in 2012 is valid until 21 July 2021. Application can be made for
renewal of this right.

8. Events after the reporting period

During March 2020 the South African Government declared a national state of disaster due to the Covid -19 pandemic. To help contain
the spread of the virus, SA was placed into an extended period of lockdown.  The COVID-19 pandemic is having a devastating impact all
around the world and across all industries. It is virtually impossible at this stage to quantify the impact of the aforementioned on our
economy, businesses and our people.

Although most of Acorn Agri and Food businesses are essential services/foods businesses  that have been allowed to keep trading
during the lockdown, the significant decline in trading activity with the consumer constrained, may likely result in adversely impacting the
profitability of Acorn Agri and Food. 

All of the companies in the Group have assessed the immediate impact of COVID-19 on their respective businesses and put contingency
and remedial plans in place where possible. In the meantime, the Group and its investees are doing its best to minimise the financial
impact of COVID-19 on its clients and employees.

We also draw your attention to note 27 where details are disclosed of a breach of covenants in respect of the Group’s revolving credit
facility of R2,250 million. A covenant waiver was subsequently obtained and the Group’s ability to draw on this facility will not be impeded
by the breach.

At year-end the Group has approximately R511 million in cash and R85 million undrawn debt facilities. As a result management  believes
the Group has sufficient liquidity to manage the impact of COVID-19. Due to the access to liquidity available to the Group and cash-
saving strategies being implemented across the Group,  Acorn Agri and Food Ltd is of the view that it will be a going concern for the
foreseeable future.

No further material events, knowledge of which would have influenced the users of the statements in making accurate evaluations and
decisions, took place after the date of the financial statements until the approval thereof.

9. Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office in accordance with section 90(6) of the Companies Act of South Africa.

10. Subsidiary companies

Information regarding the subsidiary companies and details of interest in subsidiaries are presented in Annexure A to the financial
statements.
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of financial position as at 29 February 2020

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
Notes R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Assets

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 1 027 043 1 128 530 - -

Investment property 7 272 704 248 676 - -

Intangible assets 8 221 724 702 042 - -

Investments in subsidiaries 15 - - 1 439 900 1 439 900

Other financial assets 12 27 475 540 404 - 165 781

Investments in associates and joint ventures 18 68 744 84 493 - -

Biological assets 14 4 001 221 740 - -

Deferred tax asset 16 22 518 194 053 - -

Trade and other receivables 21 161 985 172 072 - -

Loans to related parties 20 5 658 5 153 - -

1 811 852 3 297 163 1 439 900 1 605 681

Current Assets
Biological assets 14 - 214 111 - -

Inventory 17 565 191 626 810 - -

Trade and other receivables 21 1 384 121 1 484 071 13 500 13 500

Loans to group companies 19 - - 989 872 776 228

Loans to related parties 20 43 502 151 427 - -

Current tax asset 23 130 868 31 073 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 22 510 404 245 202 - -

Loans to customers 24 64 903 24 739 - -

2 698 989 2 777 433 1 003 372 789 728

Assets of disposal group 13 1 439 887 580 980 - -

Total Assets 5 950 728 6 655 576 2 443 272 2 395 409

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent
Share capital 25 1 464 516 1 367 766 1 486 514 1 373 766

Reserves (99 136) 69 339 (22 763) (1 257)

Retained income 1 521 311 1 693 128 976 039 1 002 125

2 886 691 3 130 233 2 439 790 2 374 634

Non-controlling interest 51 326 963 392 839 - -

3 213 654 3 523 072 2 439 790 2 374 634

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from related parties 20 - 960 - -

Other financial liabilities 27 375 655 642 389 - -

Instalment sale agreements 28 15 473 20 769 - -

Post-employment medical liability 26 14 478 13 052 - -

Deferred tax liability 16 104 783 268 173 - 17 294

Trade and other payables 29 6 351 4 550 - -

Provisions 30 1 094 1 048 - -

Lease liabilities 44 86 759 - - -

604 593 950 941 - 17 294

Current Liabilities
Loans from related parties 20 - 9 081 - -

Other financial liabilities 27 1 324 545 1 462 459 - -

Instalment sale agreements 28 10 258 14 702 - -

Post-employment medical liability 26 1 979 1 921 - -

Trade and other payables 29 448 945 506 925 3 482 3 481

Dividend payable - 17 796 - -

Lease liabilities 44 9 398 - - -

Bank overdraft 22 26 353 50 046 - -

1 821 478 2 062 930 3 482 3 481

Liabilities of disposal group 13 311 003 118 633 - -

Total Liabilities 2 737 074 3 132 504 3 482 20 775

Total Equity and Liabilities 5 950 728 6 655 576 2 443 272 2 395 409
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Income statement for the year ended 29 February 2020

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
Notes R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Continuing operations
Revenue 31 7 769 612 7 702 800 13 585 65 415

Cost of sales (6 988 874) (6 789 432) - -

Gross profit 780 738 913 368 13 585 65 415

Interest revenue 32 144 127 117 926 - -

Other income 33 106 514 29 979 8 352 -

Sales and marketing cost (90 194) (13 972) - -

Administration cost (184 097) (169 708) - -

Operating expenses (602 054) (551 127) - (185)

Other profits and losses 35 85 068 26 402 3 275 49 962

Operating profit 36 240 102 352 868 25 212 115 192

Financing income 34 55 130 14 449 - -

Profit / (loss) from equity accounted investments 18 5 952 (5 595) - -

Finance costs 37 (181 685) (133 501) - -

Profit before taxation 119 499 228 221 25 212 115 192

Taxation 38 72 251 (55 849) - -

Profit from continuing operations 191 750 172 372 25 212 115 192

Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations 13 (396 176) (29 234) - -

(Loss) profit for the year (204 426) 143 138 25 212 115 192

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent:
Profit for the year from continuing operations 80 213 144 686 25 212 115 192

Loss for the year from discontinuing operations (395 304) (33 381) - -

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent (315 091) 111 305 25 212 115 192

Non-controlling interest:
Profit for the year from continuing operations 111 537 27 686 - -

(Loss) profit for the year from discontinuing operations (872) 4 147 - -

Profit for the year attributable to non-controlling interest 110 665 31 833 - -
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 29 February 2020

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
Notes R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

(Loss) profit for the year (204 426) 143 138 25 212 115 192

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 258 - - -

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (1 300) - - -

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (1 042) - - -

Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss

Financial assets fair value adjustments 182 709 (224 105) (30 891) 30 891

Income tax relating to items that may not be reclassified (95 942) 26 332 17 294 (17 294)

Total items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss 86 767 (197 773) (13 597) 13 597

Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year net of taxation 45 85 725 (197 773) (13 597) 13 597

Total comprehensive (loss) / income (118 701) (54 635) 11 615 128 789

Total comprehensive (loss) / income attributable to:
Owners of the parent (229 366) (86 468) 11 615 128 789

Non-controlling interest 51 110 665 31 833 - -

(118 701) (54 635) 11 615 128 789

Refer to earnings, headline earnings and core headline earnings per share in note 39.
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 29 February 2020

Issued share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Total share
capital

Reserve for
fair value

adjustment of
financial
assets

Other
reserves

Total reserves Retained
income

Total
attributable to
equity holders
of the Group /

Company

Non-
controlling

interest

Total equity

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Group

Balance at 01 March 2018 1 169 79 165 - 80 334 280 726 - 280 726 1 621 712 1 982 772 180 860 2 163 632
Changes in equity
Opening balance adjustment on implementation of IFRS 9 - - - - - - - (2 277) (2 277) - (2 277)

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 111 305 111 305 31 833 143 138
Other comprehensive income - - - - (206 702) - (206 702) 8 929 (197 773) - (197 773)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Issue of shares 1 593 206 - (231 803) 1 361 403 - - - - 1 361 403 - 1 361 403
Transfer between reserves 79 165 (79 165) - - - 3 378 3 378 (3 378) - - -
Granting of share options - - - - - (8 063) (8 063) - (8 063) - (8 063)
Dividends - - - - - - - (43 163) (43 163) (17 685) (60 848)
Share buyback (73 971) - - (73 971) - - - - (73 971) - (73 971)
Non-controlling interest on acquisition of subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 197 831 197 831

Total changes 1 598 400 (79 165) (231 803) 1 287 432 (206 702) (4 685) (211 387) 71 416 1 147 461 211 979 1 359 440

Balance at 01 March 2019 1 599 569 - (231 803) 1 367 766 74 024 (4 685) 69 339 1 693 128 3 130 233 392 839 3 523 072
Changes in equity
Opening balance adjustment on implementation of IFRS
16

- - - - - - - (34 547) (34 547) (5 231) (39 778)

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - - - - - - - (315 091) (315 091) 110 665 (204 426)
Other comprehensive income - - - - (103 916) 258 (103 658) 189 418 85 760 (34) 85 726

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Issue of shares 121 102 - (8 352) 112 750 - - - - 112 750 - 112 750
Transfer between reserves - - - - - 7 988 7 988 11 152 19 140 (19 140) -
Transactions with non-controlling interests - - - - - (72 805) (72 805) 36 265 (36 540) 19 043 (17 497)
Dividends - - - - - - - (59 014) (59 014) (171 179) (230 193)
Share buyback - - (16 000) (16 000) - - - - (16 000) - (16 000)

Total changes 121 102 - (24 352) 96 750 (103 916) (64 559) (168 475) (171 817) (243 542) (65 876) (309 418)

Balance at 29 February 2020 1 720 671 - (256 155) 1 464 516 (29 892) (69 244) (99 136) 1 521 311 2 886 691 326 963 3 213 654

Note(s) 25 25 25 25 45 51
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 29 February 2020

Issued share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Total share
capital

Reserve for
fair value

adjustment of
financial
assets

Other
reserves

Total reserves Retained
income

Total
attributable to
equity holders
of the Group /

Company

Non-
controlling

interest

Total equity

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Company

Balance at 01 March 2018 1 169 79 165 - 80 334 - - - 934 678 1 015 012 - 1 015 012
Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 13 597 - 13 597 115 192 128 789 - 128 789
Issue of shares 1 593 206 - (225 803) 1 367 403 - - - - 1 367 403 - 1 367 403
Share buyback (73 971) - - (73 971) - - - - (73 971) - (73 971)
Transfer between reserves 79 165 (79 165) - - - - - - - - -
Granting of share options - - - - - (14 854) (14 854) - (14 854) - (14 854)
Dividends - - - - - - - (47 745) (47 745) - (47 745)

Total changes 1 598 400 (79 165) (225 803) 1 293 432 13 597 (14 854) (1 257) 67 447 1 359 622 - 1 359 622

Balance at 01 March 2019 1 599 569 - (225 803) 1 373 766 13 597 (14 854) (1 257) 1 002 125 2 374 634 - 2 374 634
Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (13 597) - (13 597) 38 809 25 212 - 25 212
Issue of shares 121 101 - (8 353) 112 748 - - - - 112 748 - 112 748
Granting of share options - - - - - (7 909) (7 909) - (7 909) - (7 909)
Dividends - - - - - - - (64 895) (64 895) - (64 895)

Total changes 121 101 - (8 353) 112 748 (13 597) (7 909) (21 506) (26 086) 65 156 - 65 156

Balance at 29 February 2020 1 720 670 - (234 156) 1 486 514 - (22 763) (22 763) 976 039 2 439 790 - 2 439 790

Notes 25 25 25 25 45
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 29 February 2020

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
Notes R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Cash flows from / (utilised in) operating activities

Cash generated from / (used in) operations 40 186 153 37 777 13 585 55 211

Interest income 199 257 141 665 - -

Dividends and bonuses received - - (7 909) -

Finance costs (181 685) (159 054) - -

Tax paid 42 (149 140) (66 908) - -

Net cash from / (utilised in) operating activities 54 585 (46 520) 5 676 55 211

Cash flows (utilised in) / from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 6 (178 734) (247 087) - -

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6 21 833 46 961 - -

Acquisition of investment property 7 (20 106) (14 864) - -

Proceeds from sale of investment property 7 - 1 494 - -

Acquisition of intangible assets 8 (13 546) (25 119) - -

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 8 - - - -

Business combinations - 59 465 - -

Acquisition of investment in associates 18 - (3 445) - -

Sale of businesses - - - -

Loans to group companies repaid - 97 140 (92 543) (9 505)

Loans to related parties repaid (86 441) (154 741) - -

Acquisition of financial assets (28 246) (717) - -

Proceeds from sale of investments 635 411 40 178 169 056 -

Purchase of biological assets 14 (22 286) (12 411) - -

Sale of biological assets 14 9 004 11 391 - -

Net proceeds from / (repayments of) loans and other receivables - - - -

Sale of investment in subsidiary 706 553 - - -

Tax paid on sale of investments 42 (95 942) (6 746) (17 294) -

Net cash (utilised in) / from investing activities 927 500 (208 501) 59 219 (9 505)

Cash flows from / (utilised in) financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 25 - 76 010 - 76 010

Repurchase of shares 25 - (73 971) - (73 971)

Borrowings incurred 43 4 912 883 2 679 043 - -

Borrowings repaid 43 (5 375 418) (2 328 639) - -

Repayment of lease liabilities (8 062) - - -

Proceeds from loans with related parties - 7 654 - -

Repayment of loans with related parties (10 041) - - -

Proceeds from / (repayments of) instalment sale agreements 43 2 402 (36 001) - -

Dividends paid 41 (247 989) (43 052) (64 895) (47 745)

Net cash from / (utilised in) financing activities (726 225) 281 044 (64 895) (45 706)

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts 255 860 26 023 - -

Net cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts at the beginning of the year 204 288 178 265 - -

Net cash, cash equivalents and overdrafts at the end of the year 22, 13 460 148 204 288 - -

Disclosed as continuing operations 22 484 051 195 156 - -

Disclosed as discontinued operations 13 (23 903) 9 132 - -

460 148 204 288 - -
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Accounting policies for the year ended 29 February 2020

1. Accounting policy

The principal accounting policies applied in preparing these Annual Financial Statements have been set out below and were applied consistently to all
periods presented, except for the adoption of new and revised accounting standards as disclosed in note 2.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, as modified for the following: Financial assets are measured at fair value in other
comprehensive income or financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through the Income statement.

The preparation of the Annual Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS requires that certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions be used. It
also requires that management use their discretion in applying the accounting policies of the Group and Company. Those areas requiring a higher level of
judgement or that are more complex, or areas where assumptions and estimates have a material effect on the Annual Financial Statements, are represented in
note 1.38.

1.2 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities where the Group has the right to exercise control over the financial and operational policies, as normally with shareholding of more
than half of the voting rights in the entities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are immediately exercisable or convertible are taken into
account when the Group determines whether an entity is controlled or not. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The entities are deconsolidated from the date on which control
ceases to exist. 

The purchase method is used when recording the acquisition of subsidiaries within the Group. 

The purchase value of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or taken over on the
date of transfer, plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 

Identifiable assets obtained and liabilities and conditional liabilities accepted in business mergers are initially measured at fair value on the date of acquisition,
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The surplus of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share in the identifiable net assets is
recognised as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is lower than the fair value of the Group's share in the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised immediately in the Income statement. 

Intergroup transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. The accounting policies of the
subsidiaries are in line with the Company. Similar transactions within the Group are accounted for in the same manner.

Investments in subsidiaries, are shown as investments in subsidiaries in the Company's Statement of financial position and measured at cost less accumulated
impairment.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.

The Group's share of its associates' post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the Income statement, and its share of post acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income of the investee is recognised in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. Dividends received or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

In some cases, the group has a joint arrangement in which it is involved by assessing its rights and obligations and accounts for those rights and obligations
with that type of joint arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. A joint operation is an arrangement whereby the parties
have joint control where decisions about the relevant activities requires unanimous consent of the parties sharing control and have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. Management applies significant judgement in determining this classification. Refer to note 1.38. A joint operation accounts for the
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its involvement in a joint operation. A joint venture recognises its interest in a joint venture as an
investment and account for that investment using the equity method in accordance with IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated by virtue of the Group's interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

The financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements shall have the same reporting date.
When the end of the reporting period of the parent is different from that of a subsidiary, the subsidiary prepares, for consolidation purposes, additional financial
information as of the same date as the financial statements of the parent to enable the parent to consolidate the financial information of the subsidiary, unless it
is impracticable to do so. If it is impracticable to do so, the parent shall consolidate the financial information of the subsidiary using the most recent financial
statements of the subsidiary adjusted for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between the date of those financial statements and the date
of the consolidated financial statements. In any case, the difference between the date of the subsidiary's financial statements and that of the consolidated
financial statements shall be no more than three months, and the length of the reporting periods and any difference between the dates of the financial
statements shall be the same from period to period. 

1.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision-Maker (being the Chief Executive Officer) for
purposes of allocating group resources and assessing its performance. Operating segments are individual components of an entity that engage in business
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same
entity), and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's Chief Operating Decision-Maker and for which discreet financial information is
available. Operating segments which display similar economic characteristics are aggregated for reporting purposes.
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Accounting policies for the year ended 29 February 2020

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings consist mainly of grain silos, retail outlets, warehouses, factories, an abattoir, an open cast mine and offices. All property, plant and
equipment are shown at cost (including borrowing costs - refer to notes 1.38 and 1.21) less accumulated depreciation and impairment, except for land, which is
shown at cost less impairment. The cost price includes costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Additional costs are either included in the
carrying amount of the existing asset or recognised as an individual asset, as the case may be, only if it is probable that future economic benefits relating to the
item will flow to the Group and the cost price of the item can be reliably measured. All repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the Income statement in
the financial period in which they were incurred.

The construction or commissioning of a mining asset results in an obligation for an entity to dismantle or remove the asset, restore the site on which the asset
was constructed and restore the mining site mined. Property, plant and equipment includes the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the
item, restoring the site on which it is located and the mining site mined, the obligation for which the group incurs when the item is acquired. Decommissioning
and restoration cost are accounted as separate items under Property Plant and Equipment.

Changes in the decommissioning, restoration or similar liability, other than the unwinding of the discount, is to be added to or deducted from the cost of the
asset to which it relates; the adjusted depreciable amount of the asset is then depreciated prospectively over its remaining useful life.

Depreciation is calculated according to the straight-line basis to decrease the cost price of each asset to the residual value of the asset over the expected
useful life of the asset, as follows:

Item Useful life
Land Unlimited
Buildings 20 - 50 years
Silos 50 years
Steel silos 25 years
Silo machinery and equipment 15 years
Machinery and equipment 4 - 30 years
Office furniture and equipment 1 - 15 years
Computers 3 - 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 - 15 years
Implements 15 years
Decommissioning assets - Land 288 years
Decommissioning assets - Buildings 30 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, on each reporting date. The carrying amount of an asset is immediately
written down to the realisable amount thereof if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds it.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain
or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and
the carrying amount of the item.

1.5 Investment property

Investment property consists of land and buildings, owned by the Group, with the objective of collecting rentals or increasing capital value, rather than producing
and supplying goods or for administrative purposes. Investment property is shown at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, except for land, which
is shown at cost less impairment.

Depreciation is calculated according to the straight-line basis to reduce the cost price of each asset to the residual value of the asset over the expected useful
life of the asset, as follows:

Item Useful life
Investment property - land Unlimited
Investment property - buildings 50 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, on each reporting date. The carrying amount of an asset is immediately
written down to the realisable amount thereof if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds it.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of investment property is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss
arising from the derecognition of an item of investment property is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying
amount of the item.
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Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Accounting policies for the year ended 29 February 2020

1.6 Intangible assets

1.6.1 Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the surplus of the cost price of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group's interest in net identifiable assets of the business
combination or subsidiary / associate on the date of acquisition. Goodwill from acquisitions is included in intangible assets. Goodwill from the acquisition of an
associate is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment. Profit and
loss on the sale of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to that entity.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units where it is expected that benefit will be gained from the acquisition in which
the goodwill originated. Any impairment is recognised immediately in profit and loss and is not written back at a later stage. Negative goodwill arising on
acquisition is recognised directly in the Income statement.

1.6.2 Computer software

Computer software bought is capitalised as computer software if it does not form an integral part of the hardware. It is capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and commission the specific software. These costs are amortised according to the straight-line basis over the expected useful life.

Costs associated with the development or maintenance of computer software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs directly attributable to
the production of identifiable and unique software products under the control of the Group that are expected to generate economic benefits exceeding costs for
a period of more than one year are recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include software development employee costs as well as an appropriate
portion of relevant overhead costs.

Computer software development costs recognised as an asset are amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life thereof, as follows:

Item Useful life
Software 5 - 10 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, on each reporting date. The carrying amount of an asset is immediately
written down to the realisable amount thereof if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds it.

The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of computer software is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss
arising from the derecognition of an item of computer software is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying
amount of the item.

1.6.3 Trademarks, client relationships and mineral reserves

Trademarks, client relationships and mineral reserves are measured at historical cost. Trademarks, client relationships and mineral reserves are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated according to the straight-line basis to allocate the cost price of the trademarks, client relationships
and mineral reserves over the expected useful lives thereof.

Item Useful life
Trademarks 5 - 20 years /

Indefinite
Client relationships 5 - 20 years
Mineral reserves 300 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, on each reporting date. The carrying amount of an asset is immediately
written down to the realisable amount thereof if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds it.

The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of trademarks, client relationships or mineral reserves are included in profit or loss when the item is
derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of trademarks, client relationships or mineral reserves is determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets with an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation or
amortisation are examined for impairment when there are events or changes in circumstances indicating that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Impairment is recognised in the Income statement for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable value. The recoverable amount is the
larger of the fair value of the asset less sales costs and value-in-use. For the purposes of testing for impairment, assets are grouped into the lowest levels of
separately identifiable cash-generating units. Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, that have suffered impairment are reviewed on each reporting date for
possible reversal of the impairment. An impairment reversal is recognised in the Income statement.

1.8 Impairment of financial assets

For impairment considerations in accordance with IFRS 9, refer to note 1.9.
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Accounting policies for the year ended 29 February 2020

1.9 Financial instruments

The Group's accounting policy for financial instruments have been revised based on the requirements of IFRS 9 which was adopted on 1 March 2018. The
comparative financial statements has not been restated for the adoption of IFRS 9, as allowed per transition guidance. Accordingly the impact has resulted in
an adjustment to the Group's opening retained earnings at the date of initial application.

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss), and
- those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in debt
instruments, this will depend on the business model for managing assets and the cash flow characteristics of an asset. For investments in equity instruments,
this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are
expensed in profit or loss. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to retained
earnings on the statement of changes in equity. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.

 Fair value through profit and loss (FVPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in
which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

(i) For trade receivables only, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from 
initial recognition of the receivables.

(ii) For instalment sale receivables, the Group applies the general model due to the significant finance component.

(iii) For loans to customers, as these are classified as loan receivables, the Group applies the general model for expected credit losses. Refer to note 5(b) for
further details regarding the Group's impairment policies.
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1.10 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held-for-sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell,
except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets and investment property that are carried at fair value and
contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for
any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously
recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of
derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and
other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assets in the
balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss.

1.11 Inventory

Inventory is recognised at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined in accordance with the average cost price method. The cost price of
finished products and work in process comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). Borrowing costs are capitalised against inventory under the provisions of IAS 23. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling costs.

1.12 Biological and bearer assets

Biological bearer assets

An entity shall recognise a biological asset or agricultural produce when, and only when:

 the entity controls the asset as a result of past events;

 it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the entity; and

 the fair value or cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
The bearer plant is initially measured at cost and is subsequently stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation on orchards and vineyards are calculated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful life as follows:

 grape vineyards ranging between 25 and 40 years; and

 citrus orchards at 25 years.
Depreciation is calculated from the point that the orchards and vineyards are in uniform and started to produce fruit. The period orchards and vineyards
start bearing fruit range between four and seven years, depending on the type of fruit. Production costs are capitalized until just before the orchards and
vineyards are in uniform. Orchards consist of citrus trees and vineyards consist of table and raisin grape vines. The residual value, useful life and
depreciation method of the assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is
accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss. The gain or loss
arising from derecognition is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from derecognition of the asset is
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset item. 

Livestock

Livestock is shown at fair value less estimated sales cost. Fair value is deemed to be market value on the date of measurement. Fair value adjustments are
recognised in the Income statement. All costs incurred upon the initial acquisition of biological assets are capitalised.

1.13 Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce are initially recognised at fair value, after the deduction of sales costs incurred at the time of harvesting. Fair value is deemed to be the
market value on the date of recognition. Agricultural produce are subsequently measured at cost or net realisable value, whichever is the lowest.

Fair value of the consumable biological assets are calculated by management and confirmed by the board. These values are based on future estimations of
income, expenses, and profit margins obtained in the ACG Fruit Group of companies. The actual results could differ from related accounting estimates and
management considers it has used its best estimates to arrive at the fair value. Where market determined prices or values for fruit on trees are not available
and alternative estimates of fair value are determined to be clearly unreliable, the consumable biological assets are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of consumable biological assets is determined as the direct crop input costs incurred since the end
of the previous year's harvest to date of the annual financial statements.

1.14 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The group holds trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows. The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses that
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for trade receivables. Refer to note 5(b) for further details regarding the Group's impairment policies.

Production accounts < 365 days
Renegotiated production accounts > 365 days
Other receivables Between 30 and 60 days
Instalment sale agreements Between 3 and 6 years
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1.15 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of financial position at cost. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits at
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less and overdrafts.

Overdrafts are included on the Statement of financial position under current liabilities.

1.16 Share capital and equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a decrease, after the deduction of income tax, of the returns in equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, or for the acquisition of a business, are recognised as a decrease of equity.

1.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, after the deduction of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised costs.
Any difference between return after deduction of transaction costs, and redemption value is recognised in the Income statement over the period of the
borrowings according to the effective return method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until at least twelve months after
reporting date.

1.18 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods
exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax assets / liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from / paid to the tax authorities, using the
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred income tax is fully provided for in the financial statements, according to the liability method, for temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial statements. If, however, the deferred income tax arose from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination influencing, at the time of the transaction, neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not
recognised. Deferred income tax is determined according to tax rates and laws enacted or substantially enacted at reporting date and expected to apply when
the relevant deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised in so far as it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which to utilise the temporary differences.

If a current legally enforceable right exists to set off recognised amounts of financial assets and liabilities appearing in determinable currencies and the Group
intends setting them off on a net basis, the relevant assets and liabilities are set off against each other.

1.19 Mineral Royalty tax

The Mineral and Petroleum Resource Royalty Act 2008 (Royalty Act) imposes a royalty tax on refined and unrefined minerals. The Mineral Royalty tax is
deducted from revenue.

1.20 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year.

Headline earnings per share

Headline earnings per share is calculated in terms of Circular 1/2019 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) and disclosed
voluntarily by the Group as a more detailed reconciliation of basic earnings per share.

Core headline earnings per share

Core headline earnings adjusts headline earnings for certain items that, in the Boards view, may distort the financial results from year to year, giving
shareholders a more consistent reflection of the underlying financial performance of the Group. Core headline earnings per share is calculated by dividing core
headline earnings by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

1.21 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, establishment or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the costs of that asset.
Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the Income statement.
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1.22 Leases

1.22.1 Leases (Comparatives under IAS 17)

Group is the lessee

Rentals in respect of property, plant and equipment where the Group essentially bears all the risks and enjoys all the benefits of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Leases are capitalised upon conclusion thereof at the lower of fair value of the leased property and the current value of the minimum lease
payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and financing costs to obtain a constant rate in respect of the outstanding financing balance.
The corresponding lease liabilities, after deduction of financing costs, are accounted under loans.

The interest element of the financing costs is debited against the Income statement over the lease term to provide a constant periodic interest rate in respect of
the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired in terms of leases are depreciated over the shorter of the
useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Rentals where the lessor retains a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments made in terms of
operating leases, following the deduction of any incentives received from the lessor, are debited against the Income statement on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.

Group is the lessor

When assets are leased in terms of a lease contract, the current value of the lease payments is recognised as a debtor. The difference between the gross
debtor and the current value of the debtor is recognised as an unearned financing income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease in
accordance with the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

Assets leased to third parties in terms of operating leases are included in investment property in the Statement of financial position. The assets are depreciated
over their expected useful life on a basis agreeing with similar investment property owned. Lease income net of any incentives given to lessees is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

1.22.2 Leases - current year

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.

A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determines whether the asset under consideration is "identified", which means that
the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the contract and that the supplier does not have a substantial right of substitution throughout the period of
use. Once management has concluded that the contract deals with an identified asset, the right to control the use thereof is considered. To this end, control
over the use of an identified asset only exists when the Group has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset as well as the
right to direct the use of the asset.

In circumstances where the determination of whether the contract is or contains a lease requires significant judgement, the relevant disclosures are provided in
the critical accounting assumptions and judgments section of these accounting policies.

Group as a lessee

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease agreements for which the Group is a
lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense (note 24) on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Details of leasing arrangements where the Group is a lessee are presented in note 44 (Group as lessee).

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

 fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives;

 variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;

 the amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

 the exercise price of purchase options, if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;

 lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option; and

 penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (or right-of-use asset). The related payments are
recognised as an expense in the period incurred and are included in operating expenses.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and
by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. Interest charged on the lease liability is included in finance costs (note 37).
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1.22 Leases (continued)

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when:

 there has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate;

 there has been a change in the assessment of whether the Group will exercise a purchase, termination or extension option, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

 there has been a change to the lease payments due to a change in an index or a rate, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a
revised discount rate is used);

 there has been a change in expected payment under a residual value guarantee, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate;

 a lease contract has been modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised payments using a revised discount rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are presented within property, plant and equipment on the Statement of Financial Position.

On initial recognition the right-of-use asset is measured equal to:

 the initial amount of the corresponding lease liability;

 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date;

 any initial direct costs incurred;

 any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, when the Group
incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories; and

 less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. However, if a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated
over the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of a lease.

For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are determined consistently with items of the same class of property, plant
and equipment. Refer to the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment for details of useful lives.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous
estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. Each part of a right-of-use asset with a cost that is significant in
relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

1.23 Employee benefits

Pension and provident fund obligations 

The Group provides post-retirement medical benefits to a specific grouping of participating former employees by means of a contribution to their monthly costs.
Independent actuaries annually determine the accumulated post-retirement medical aid obligation and the annual cost of these benefits. The liability is
calculated using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimate future cash
outflows using market information and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related obligation. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Past service
costs are recognised immediately in profit and loss.

For defined fixed-contribution plans, the Group makes contributions to state or privately administered pension insurance plans on a compulsory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit costs when owing. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset in so far as a cash
repayment or a decrease in future payments are available.

Post-employment medical obligations

The Group provides post-employment medical benefits in terms of a fixed contribution plan to a specific group of participating former employees by means of a
contribution to their monthly costs. The post-employment medical benefit obligation and the cost of the benefit are determined annually by an independent
actuary. Any surpluses or deficits between the actuarially determined obligation and the amounts provided during the year, are recognised in the liability and the
Income statement in the relevant year. The assumptions used include long-term estimates in the consumer price index and applicable discount rates. Actuaries
use the projected credit unit method to determine the liability. 

Performance incentive scheme

A performance incentive scheme was approved by the Board of Directors. The aim of the performance incentive scheme is to encourage employees to achieve
specified agreed upon objectives and to acknowledge excellent performance. A liability for the performance incentive scheme is recognised under trade and
other payables if an enforceable legal or contractual right exist to settle the liability. It is expected that the liability will be settled within twelve months. Financial
goals must first be achieved before the liability is recognised.
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1.24 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. After initial recognition, trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost by using the
effective interest method. 

1.25 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

 The Group has a current legal or constructive liability due to events in the past;

 It is more probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the liability; and

 The amount has been reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured against the current value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the liability, measured according to a pre-tax rate
reflecting current market conditions of the time value of money and the specific risk of the liability. In the case of dates of maturity exceeding twelve months
after the reporting date they are classified as non-current liabilities. The increase in the provision due to the lapse of time is recognised as an interest expense.

1.26 Financial Guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.

The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of:

 the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and

 the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the difference in cash flows between the contractual payments required
under the debt instrument and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for
assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values are accounted for as contributions and
recognised as part of the cost of the investment.

1.27 Revenue from contracts with customers

a) Sale of goods - wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of products, including (i) lime products, (ii) petroleum and petroleum products, (iii) the buying and slaughtering of
cattle and sheep; the selling of a range of meat, by-products and livestock, (iv) industrial fasteners, (v) fresh fruit and (vi) health and other snacks, dried fruit and
nuts. Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered to the wholesaler, the wholesaler has full
discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the wholesaler’s acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the wholesaler, and
either the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective
evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

Sale of goods is recognised when the Group has supplied products to the customer, the customer has accepted the goods and recoverability of the debtor
concerned is relatively certain.

 b) Sale of goods - retail

The Group operates a chain of retail stores selling agricultural supplies, dried fruit, nuts, industrial fasteners, grocery and convenience items. Revenue from the
sale of goods is recognised when a group entity sells a product to the customer. Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when
the products are collected by the customer, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer purchases the goods.

c) Sale of services

Timing of recognition: Revenue from services consist of various services for which a fee is charged. This includes transport, slaughtering fees, commission and
administration fees. Revenue from services is recognised in the accounting period which the services are rendered. For fixed price contracts, revenue is
recognised based on the actual services provided to the end of the reporting period as a portion of the services to be provided. 

Measurement of revenue: Estimates of revenue, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances change. Any resulting increases or
decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by
management.

d) Rental income

Income from operating leases in respect of property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1.27 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

e) Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the service to the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence,
the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

f) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established.

1.28 Dividends declared

Dividends declared to the Group's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Board of Directors.

1.29 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current assets as a deferred credit against property, plant and equipment. The
grant is recognised to the income statement on a straight-line basis as part of depreciation over the expected lives of the related assets.

1.30 Rehabilitation costs

Provision has been made for rehabilitation costs and expected accrued liabilities, based on the Group's estimate of environmental and legal requirements, to
show the net current value of the current expected cost of repairing the disturbance to the environment as at reporting date.

Environmental rehabilitation provisions

Estimated long-term environmental provisions, comprising pollution control, rehabilitation and mine closure, are based on the Group’s environmental policy
taking into account current technological, environmental and regulatory requirements. The provision for rehabilitation is recognised as and when the
environmental liability arises. To the extent that the obligations relate to the construction of an asset, they are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
effect of subsequent changes to assumptions in estimating an obligation for which the provision was recognised as part of the cost of the asset is adjusted
against the asset. 

Decommissioning costs of plant and equipment

The estimated present value of future decommissioning costs, taking into account current environmental and regulatory requirements, is capitalised as part of
property, plant and equipment, to the extent that they relate to the construction of the asset, and the related provisions are raised. These estimates are
reviewed at least annually. The effect of subsequent changes to assumptions in estimating an obligation for which the provision was recognised as part of the
cost of the asset is adjusted against the asset. Any subsequent changes to an obligation which did not relate to the initial construction of a related asset are
charged to the Income statement.

The unwinding of the discount

The unwinding of the discount is not a borrowing cost for the purposes of IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, and may thus not be capitalised under the allowed
alternative treatment of capitalisation, as the decommissioning liability does not fall within this description since it does not reflect funds (i.e. cash) borrowed.
Hence, the unwinding of the discount is expenditure and is charged to the Income statement.

Additionally, future changes to environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates could affect the carrying amount of this provision.
Such changes could similarly impact the useful lives of assets depreciated on a straight-line-basis, where those lives are limited to the life of mine.

1.31 Other profits and losses

Other profits and losses disclosed in the Income statement are disclosed separately as they are not deemed to form part of the Group's trade operations.
Included in other profits and losses are capital profits and losses realised on non-current assets, and increases and/or decreases in value written down and/or
back on non-current assets.

1.32 Profit bonus

The Board of Directors of one of the subsidiaries in the Group may, if that Board is of the opinion that there is sufficient headline earnings of a operating entity,
approve a profit bonus for distribution to clients in some of the subsidiaries who, through their purchases, enabled the subsidiaries in the Group to achieve
sufficient headline earnings. The profit bonus policy is determined and approved by the Board of Directors of one of the subsidiaries in the Group. The profit
bonus is recognised as an expense in the Income statement as operating expenses.

1.33 Quality upgrading

The Board of Directors of one of the subsidiaries in the Group may, if that Board is of the opinion that there is sufficient headline earnings of a operating entity,
approve a payment based on the actual additional income earned from outloading a better quality of grain than the actual quality at intake, which enabled the
Group to achieve sufficient headline earnings. The quality upgrading policy is determined and approved by the Board of Directors of one of the subsidiaries in
the Group. The quality upgrading is recognised as an expense in the Income statement within operating expenses.
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1.34 Business combinations

The cost of acquisition is measured at the fair value of the acquired assets, equity instruments that are issued or liabilities which are acquired at the date of
acquisition, plus cost that can be directly attributed to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in the business
combination is initially valued at fair value on acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. 

The surplus that can result, if the cost of acquisition is more than the fair value of the net assets of the business acquired, is accounted for as goodwill. If the
cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the acquired business, the difference is accounted for in the Income statement.

1.35 Common control transactions

A business combination of entities or businesses under common control is a business combination where all the entities or businesses being combined, is
ultimately controlled by the same party or parties before and after the business combination, and where the control is not of a temporary nature.

Business combinations under common control is accounted for using the 'acquisition accounting' principle. Under this principle, all assets and liabilities
acquired is initially recognised at its fair value. The difference between the fair value of the net assets and consideration will be recognised as goodwill or
bargain purchase.

1.36 Transactions with minority shareholders - 'economic entity approach'

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority shareholders as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from minorities,
the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to minority shareholders are also recorded in equity.

1.37 Foreign currency

a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ("the functional
currency"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African Rand ("R"), which is the Group's functional and presentation currency.

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated to the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the transactions at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

1.38 Critical accounting assumptions and judgements

Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions regarding the future. The resultant accounting estimates may possibly, per definition, not agree with the actual
results. Assumptions and estimates with a material risk of resulting in a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the following
financial year are discussed below:

Life-span and residual value of fixed assets and intangible assets

Management review the life-span and residual value of fixed assets and appropriate intangible assets on an annual basis, and adjustments are made as
appropriate. Management uses their experience, judgement and assumptions in the process of determining life-span and residual value.

Impairment of silos

Management performs an impairment test on the silos and silo equipment of the Group in order to determine the recoverable value of the silos as a separate
cash-generating unit. This may result in a value adjustment on carrying values as disclosed in note 6.

The following are indicators that can lead to a value impairment test and ultimate write back of the previous periods impairment / impairment reversals: 

 Interest rate changes;

 Material changes in grain yields;

 Economic conditions; and 

 Grain storage alternatives 

Accounting for different reporting periods within the Group

The financial year end date of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd is 30 November. The reason for the year end date being different to the rest of the Group, is that ACG Fruit's
harvest season is in February / March and it is therefore not practical to move their year-end to February. The financial statements of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd for the
year ended 30 November will be used for consolidation purposes, and appropriate adjustments will be made for the effects of significant transactions between
that date and 28 February.

Significant transactions include all related party balances and transactions, as well as material movements in the Statement of Financial Position and Income
Statement of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd.
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1.38 Critical accounting assumptions and judgements (continued)

Impairment of goodwill and indefinite intangible assets

At the end of each financial period all goodwill and other indefinite intangible assets are evaluated by a specialist valuator for impairment by using appropriate
valuation techniques. This is performed for each cash-generating unit to which goodwill or other intangible assets are allocated. Refer to note 8.

Valuation of unlisted investments

Material unlisted investments are valued based on the latest over-the-counter trading prices available at year-end as a proxy for fair value.

Deferred income tax on financial assets

Deferred tax on available-for-sale investments have been provided for at the current capital gains tax effective rate of 22.40%.

Impairment of receivables

(i) For trade receivables only, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from 
initial recognition of the receivables.

(ii) For instalment sale receivables, the Group applies the general model due to the significant finance component.

(iii) For loans to customers, as these are classified as loan receivables, the Group applies the general model for expected credit losses.

Capitalisation of borrowing cost

The Group is of the opinion that at least a three-month period has to lapse on grain products before these products are in a marketable condition, e.g. on barley
a dormancy period before germination is required and on seed, a dormancy period, cleaning and chemical treatment process. For barley an average period of 3
or 6 months is used depending on cultivars, and for seed a 3 month period. The Group further assumes that a qualifying asset takes more than six months to
construct.

Provision for slow-moving and obsolete stock

The provision for slow-moving and obsolete stock is continuously calculated by Management on the various segments of stock in the Group according to an
ageing method, and adjusted accordingly. Implements are considered individually by Management for provision of obsolete stock.

Property, pland and equipment and bearer biological assets

Management has relied on external valuations to provide sufficient evidence to support the values disclosed. The directors are satisfied that loose assets not
included in the valuations are disclosed at market related values.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation.  There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future.  Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the group to make significant estimates related to
expectations of future taxable income.  Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax
laws.  To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets
recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

Decommissioning and restoration provision

The construction or commissioning of an asset results in an obligation for the Group to dismantle or remove the asset and restore the site on which the asset
was constructed.

The determination of long-term provisions, in particular environmental provisions, remains a key area where management’s judgement is required. Estimating
the future cost of these obligations is complex and requires management to make estimates and judgements because most of the obligations will only be
fulfilled in the future and contracts and laws are often not clear regarding what is required. The resulting provisions could also be influenced by changing
technologies and political, environmental, safety, business and statutory considerations.

It is envisaged that, based on the current information available, any additional liability in excess of the amounts provided will not have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s financial position, liquidity or cash flow.

Fair values in business combinations

The identification and measurement of intangible assets in business combinations is an area of judgement. Management uses valuation techniques to
determine the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination.
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1.38 Critical accounting assumptions and judgements (continued)

Biological assets and agricultural produce

Biological consumable transformation percentage

Management applies significant judgement in accounting for biological consumables at fair value in terms of their stage of transformation at reporting date. The
percentage transformation used by management are detailed in note 14.

Biological asset bearer time to full production

Depreciation is calculated from the point that the orchards and vineyards are in uniform and started to produce fruit. Production costs are capitalised until just
before the orchards and vineyards are in uniform. Management applies significant judgement in terms of when these orchards and vineyards are in uniform.
The following years have been estimated by management before orchards and vineyards are depreciated:

Table grape vineyards 3 years
Citrus orchards 6 years

Classification of joint arrangements

Management applied significant judgement in classifying Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd as a joint venture in accordance with IFRS 11. Refer to
note 18. ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd has a 57% interest in the entity, but the shareholding is not indicative of the voting rights within the entity. The minority shareholder,
and also the financier to a large extent, has certain critical rights per shareholder agreement that indicates this entity to be accounted for as a joint venture.
Along with the other assets and liabilities of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd, this is included in the held-for-sale disposal group as disclosed in note 13.

Fair value determination of financial guarantee contracts

The fair value of the financial guarantee contracts can be estimated as the present value of the expected future credit losses on the guaranteed instruments.
Each payment was calculated based on the expected future credit loss, the probability of default, the loss given default and the exposure on default. All future
credit losses were discounted to the present date by using the Rand zero coupon swap curve. The value of each guarantee is determined as the total of the
present value of the future expected credit losses for all of the instruments covered by the guarantee.
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2. Changes in accounting policy

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards on a basis consistent with the prior year except for
the adoption of the following new or revised standards.

Application of IFRS 16 Leases

In the current year, the Group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases (as issued by the IASB in January 2016) with the date of initial application being 01 March 2019.
IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives and SIC 27 -
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant changes to the lessee accounting by removing the
distinction between operating and finance leases and requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have remained
largely unchanged. Details of these new requirements are described in the accounting policy for leases. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group's
financial statements is described below.

The Group has applied the practical expedient available in IFRS 16 which provides that for contracts which exist at the initial application date, an entity is not
required to reassess whether they contain a lease. This means that the practical expedient allows an entity to apply IFRS 16 to contracts identified by IAS 17
and IFRIC 4 as containing leases; and to not apply IFRS 16 to contracts that were not previously identified by IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 as containing leases.

IFRS 16 has been adopted by applying the modified retrospective approach, whereby the comparative figures are not restated. Instead, cumulative adjustments
to retained earnings have been recognised in retained earnings as at 01 March 2019.

Leases where Group is lessee

Leases previously classified as operating leases

The Group undertook the following at the date of initial application for leases which were previously recognised as operating leases:

 recognised a lease liability, measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Group's incremental borrowing rate at the
date of initial application.

 recognised right-of-use assets measured at their carrying amounts (as if IFRS 16 applied from commencement date but discounted at the incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application).

The Group did not apply IAS 36 to consider if these right-of-use assets are impaired, but rather applied the practical expedient of IFRS 16 par C10(b). In
accordance with this practical expedient, the carrying amounts were adjusted with the amount of any onerous provision which existed immediately prior to the
date of initial application.

The Group applied the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases in terms of IAS 17. Where
necessary, they have been applied on a lease by lease basis:

 when a portfolio of leases contained reasonably similar characteristics, the Group applied a single discount rate to that portfolio;

 leases which were expiring within 12 months of 01 March 2019 were treated as short term leases, with remaining lease payments recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis which is more representative of the pattern of benefits consumed;

 the Group has elected not to apply IFRS 16 to leases for which the underlying asset is of low value, as permitted by the standard. A lease agreement of
which the underlying asset's value is R100,000 or less will be considered a low-value lease;

 initial direct costs were excluded from the measurement of right-of-use assets at the date of initial application; and

 hindsight was applied where appropriate. This was specifically the case for determining the lease term for leases which contained extension or
termination options.

Impact on financial statements

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised an additional R144,657,793 of right-of-use assets and R189,205,830 of lease liabilities, recognising the
difference in retained earnings. This has been further reduced by the reversal of the straightlining operating lease liabilities amounting to R370,623 and deferred
taxation of R5,139,385 recognised on right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on transition.

When measuring lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 01 March 2019. The weighted average rate
applied is between 7.00% and 13.40%.

Reconciliation of previous operating lease commitments to lease liabilities under IFRS 16

01 March 2019
Operating lease commitment at 28 February 2019 as previously disclosed 255 251
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 01 March 2019 (67 354)
Add finance lease liabilities recognised as at 28 February 2019 25 172
Less recognition exemption for:
Short term leases (16 129)
Leases of low value assets (6 361)
Adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension and termination
options

(1 373)

Lease liabilities recognised at 01 March 2019 189 206
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3. New standards and interpretations

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2020

 Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments on prepayment features with negative compensation and modification of financial liabilities (effective from
1 January 2019). The narrow-scope amendment covers two issues:

- The amendments allow companies to measure particular prepayable financial assets with so-called negative compensation at amortised cost
  or at fair value through other comprehensive income if a specified condition is met - instead of at fair value through profit or loss. It is likely to
  have the biggest impact on banks and other financial services entities.
- How to account for the modification of a financial liability. The amendment confirms that most such modifications will result in immediate
  recognition of a gain or loss. This is a change from common practice under IAS 39 today and will affect all kinds of entities that have
  renegotiated borrowings.

 IFRS 16, Leases (effective from 1 January 2019). This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 and is a far reaching change in accounting by
lessees in particular.

Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction between a finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). IFRS
16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a 'right-of-use asset' for virtually all lease contracts. The IASB
has included an optional exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets; however, this exemption can only be applied by
lessees.

For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However, as the IASB has updated the guidance on the definition of a lease (as well as the guidance
on the combination and separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected by the new standard.

At the very least, the new accounting model for lessees is expected to impact negotiations between lessors and lessees. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, 'Leases', IFRIC 4, 'Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease', SIC 15, 'Operating Leases – Incentives' and
SIC 27, 'Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease'.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group’s operating leases. As at the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of R119 million (refer to note 46). The Group is in the process to determine the extent to which these commitments will result in the
recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for future payments and how this will affect the Group’s profit and classification of cash flows. The
nature of expenses related to those leases will change as IFRS 16 replaces the straight-line operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for right-
of-use assets and an interest expense on lease liabilities.

 Amendments to IAS 28, Investments in associated and joint ventures (effective from 1 January 2019). The amendments clarified that companies
account for long-term interests in an associate or joint venture, to which the equity method is not applied, using IFRS 9. The amendments are effective
from 1 January 2019, with early application permitted.

 Annual improvements to IFRS's - 2015-17 cycle (effective on or after 1 January 2019). These amendments include minor changes to: 1) IFRS 3,
Business combination - a company remeasures its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains control of the business; 2) IFRS 11, Joint
arrangements - a company does not remeasure its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains joint control of the business; 3) IAS 12,
Income taxes - The amendment clarified that the income tax consequences of dividends on financial instruments classified as equity should be
recognised according to where the past transactions or events that generated distributable profits were recognised; and 4) IAS 23, Borrowing costs - a
company treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended use or sale.

 IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments (effective on or after 1 January 2019). IFRIC 23 provides a framework to consider, recognise and
measure the accounting impact of tax uncertainties. The Interpretation provides specific guidance in several areas where previously IAS 12 was silent.
The Interpretation also explains when to reconsider the accounting for a tax uncertainty. Most entities will have developed a model to account for tax
uncertainties in the absence of specific guidance in IAS 12. These models might, in some circumstances, be inconsistent with IFRIC 23 and the impact
on tax accounting could be material. Management should assess the existing models against the specific guidance in the Interpretation and consider the
impact on income tax accounting.

 Amendments to IAS 19, Employee benefits on plan amendment, curtailment or settlement (effective on or after 1 January 2019). These amendments
require an entity to:

- Use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the period after a plan amendment,
  curtailment or settlement; and
- Recognise in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any reduction in a surplus (recognised or unrecognised).
  This reflects the substance of the transaction, because a surplus that has been used to settle an obligation or provide additional benefits is
  recovered. The impact on the asset ceiling is recognised in other comprehensive income, and it is not reclassified to profit or loss. The impact
  of the amendments is to confirm that these effects are not offset.

The Group had to change its accounting policies as a result of adopting IFRS 16. The Group elected to adopt the new rules retrospectively but recognised the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard on 1 March 2019. This is disclosed in note 2. The other amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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3. New standards and interpretations (continued)

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards not yet effective

The following standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards are compulsory for and applicable to the Group's future accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 March 2020:

 Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and IAS 8, 'Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors' on the definition
of material (effective on or after 1 January 2020). These amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 and consequential amendments to other IFRSs: 

- use a consistent definition of materiality through IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting;
- clarify the explanation of the definition of material ; and
- incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information.

The amended definition is: "Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity.

 Amendment to IFRS 3, Business combinations - Definition of a business (effective on or after 1 January 2020). This amendment revises the definition of
a business. According to feedback received by the IASB, application of the current guidance is commonly thought to be too complex, and it results in too
many transactions qualifying as business combinations. More acquisitions are likely to be accounted for as asset acquisitions. To be considered a
business, an acquisition would have to include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The new guidance provides a framework to evaluate when an input and a substantive process are present (including for early stage companies that have
not generated outputs). To be a business without outputs, there will now need to be an organised workforce.

The Directors do not expect the above standards to have a material effect on the annual financial statements. The Group has chosen not to adopt any of the
above standards and interpretations earlier than required.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards not yet effective and not applicable

The following standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards, which are compulsory for periods beginning on or after 1 March 2020, should
not apply to the future accounting periods of the Group:

 IFRS 17, Insurance contracts (effective from 1 January 2021). The IASB issued IFRS 17, Insurance contracts, and thereby started a new epoch of
accounting for insurers. Whereas the current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers to use their local GAAP, IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent rules that
will significantly increase the comparability of financial statements. For insurers, the transition to IFRS 17 will have an impact on financial statements and
on key performance indicators. Under IFRS 17, the general model requires entities to measure an insurance contract at initial recognition at the total of
the fulfilment cash flows (comprising the estimated future cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the time value of money and an explicit risk adjustment for
non-financial risk) and the contractual service margin. The fulfilment cash flows are remeasured on a current basis each reporting period. The unearned
profit (contractual service margin) is recognised over the coverage period. Aside from this general model, the standard provides, as a simplification, the
premium allocation approach. This simplified approach is applicable for certain types of contract, including those with a coverage period of one year or
less. For insurance contracts with direct participation features, the variable fee approach applies. The variable fee approach is a variation on the general
model. When applying the variable fee approach, the entity’s share of the fair value changes of the underlying items is included in the contractual service
margin. As a consequence, the fair value changes are not recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they occur but over the remaining life of the
contract.

 Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Reconition and Measurement and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments:
Disclosure - Interest rate benchmark reform (effective from 1 January 2020). These amendments provide certain reliefs in connection with interest rate
benchmark reform (IBOR). The reliefs relate to hedge accounting and have the effect that IBOR should not generally cause hedge accounting to
terminate. However, any hedge ineffectiveness should continue to be recorded in the income statement.
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4. Segment reporting

The Group's segment reporting has been restated to reflect the new internal reporting from the date of acquiring the Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd businesses. 

Management has determined that operating segments are business units of the Group that engage in similar business activities from which it may earn
revenue and incur expenses, and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group's Chief Operating Decision-Maker, being the Chief
Executive Officer, and for which discrete financial information is available to make strategic decisions. Operating segments which display similar economic
characteristics are aggregated for reporting purposes.

The Group identifies its operating segments on the basis of products and services offered, the dominant customer basis and the economic sector in which
they operate. Geographical areas in which the operating segments operate are of secondary concern.

Other income and expenses, for example interest received, interest paid, depreciation and amortisation are not disclosed per segment as these amounts
are not reported to the Chief Operating Decision-Maker in such a manner.

Revenues of approximately R349,033,597 (2019: R60,289,358) are derived from a single external customer. These revenues are attributable to the
Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd segment.

In the previous year, Agri inputs and services was divided to show the Fuel inputs separately. In the current year, the two segments were collapsed into
one segment, due to the nature of both segments being Agri related and these businesses are managed and monitored together by the Chief Operating
Decision-Maker.

The reportable segments of the Group are as follows:

Agri inputs and services

(Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd, Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd, Overberg Wealth and Risk Management (Pty) Ltd, Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd, Boltfast (Pty)
Ltd, AgVentures (Pty) Ltd)

Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd (including Agpack and Procuro Grain) supply agricultural inputs, packaging, products and services to farmers in the
Overberg, Swartland, Eastern Cape and Northern Cape regions, and derive its revenue from the sale of these agricultural inputs, products and services.
Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd is a wholesale supplier and distributor of petroleum and lubricant products to forecourts and commercial clients with an extensive
footprint in the Western Cape, and mainly derives its revenue from the selling and distribution of petroleum products. Overberg Wealth and Risk
Management (Pty) Ltd is an insurance related services provider and derives its income from these services. Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd, (trading as
P&B Lime), a lime mine in Bredasdorp, produces and derives its revenue from the sale of hydrated lime products, feed lime and agricultural lime. Boltfast
(Pty) Ltd is a company that markets and distributes industrial fasteners to consumers throughout the country. The Company derives its revenue primarily
from the sale of these industrial fasteners. AgVentures (Pty) Ltd is an investment holding company that invests in disruptive agrifood technology companies
in South Africa, Israel and Kenya and derives its revenue from the investment in these companies.

Fresh Fruit

(ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd)

ACG Fruit is a leading producer of table grapes and soft citrus for the export market, mainly the UK and Europe. Geographically diversified farm locations
reduce the risk of production related challenges and ensure that a wide range of table grape and soft citrus cultivars can be supplied throughout the
relevant harvest seasons.

Food Processing

(Overberg Meat (Pty) Ltd (previously Bredasdorp Slagpale (Pty) Ltd))

Overberg Meat (Pty) Ltd, situated in Bredasdorp, provides processing facilities to the district’s sheep and cattle farmers. The facility has a processing a
capacity of 950 small stock units per day, as well as a feedlot with a capacity of 2 500 small stock units. The brand “Overberg Meat” is increasingly popular
due to the exceptional quality of meat from this district, serving major wholesalers and retailers in Cape Town.

Health Foods

(Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd, Montagu Dried Fruit and Nuts (Pty) Ltd)

Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd is a global leader in the production of innovative health snacks using proprietary technology to process fruit and
vegetable pulp and dairy. It supplies under its own brands, private label and bulk business. Montagu Dried Fruit and Nuts (Pty) Ltd is a leading, national
supplier of dried fruit, nuts and other snack products to its franchisees, forecourts and the retail market. Montagu owns the iconic Montagu brand as well as
the Country in a Box brand.

Corporate

(AAF Services (Pty) Ltd, Overberg Agri Management Services (Pty) Ltd, AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd, Acorn Agri and Food Ltd, Overberg Agri Development Trust,
Woza Phambili Enterprises (Pty) Ltd)

AAF Services (Pty) Ltd performs a Group administration function for the Acorn Agri and Food Group and derive its revenue from administration fee income.
AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd is an investment company and derive its revenue from dividend income and interest income. Acorn Agri and Food Ltd is the holding
company of the Group. Part of our commitment to socio-economic transformation is realised by the Overberg Agri Development Trust and Woza Phambili
Enterprises (Pty) Ltd, which make meaningful and sustainable investments to benefit local communities. Woza Phambili owns a 26% stake in Boltfast and
is a level 1 BBBEE contributor. The principle activities of Woza Phambili Enterprises (Pty) Ltd is the advancing of Black Economic Empowerment through
bursaries, community projects and services rendered.
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4. Segment reporting (continued)

4.1 Segment income and results

Total segment revenue                                                   GROUP

2020 2019
R'000 R'000

Agri Inputs and Services 7 136 915 7 278 774
Fresh Fruit - 201 001
Food Processing 231 134 227 160
Health Foods 306 343 295 389
Corporate and consolidation adjustments 95 220 (45 937)

Subtotal 7 769 612 7 956 387
Discontinued operations revenue not shown as part of segment 483 941 264 845
Change in fair value of biological assets shown as part of revenue - (60 039)

Group revenue 8 253 553 8 161 191

EBITDA and EBITDA margin GROUP
EBITDA

GROUP
EBITDA margin

2020 2019 2020 2019
R'000 R'000 % %

Agri Inputs and Services 292 834 402 050 %4.10 %9.29
Fresh Fruit - 95 198 %- %47.36
Food Processing 7 267 6 504 %3.14 %2.86
Health Foods 37 798 39 125 %12.34 %13.25
Corporate and consolidation adjustments 11 716 (44 062)

349 615 498 815
Discontinued operations (328 376) 26 290

Group EBITDA 21 239 525 105 %0.26 %6.43

Net profit after tax GROUP

2020 2019
R'000 R'000

Agri Inputs and Services 40 712 138 624
Fresh Fruit - -
Food Processing 4 247 4 102
Health Foods 76 664 (24 378)
Corporate and consolidation adjustments 70 127 77 085

191 750 195 433
Discontinued operations (396 176) (52 295)

Group net profit after tax (204 426) 143 138

4.2 Segment assets and liabilities

GROUP GROUP

Segment assets * Segment liabilities
2020 2019 2020 2019
R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Agri Inputs and Services ** 3 599 730 3 295 698 2 426 131 2 321 058
Fresh Fruit *** 1 373 970 1 418 290 950 725 809 972
Food Processing 40 835 41 300 5 837 8 812
Health Foods 765 048 945 052 201 468 184 615
Corporate and consolidation adjustments 171 145 955 236 (847 081) (191 953)

Group assets and liabilities 5 950 728 6 655 576 2 737 080 3 132 504

* All non-current assets are located in South Africa.

** The assets and liabilities of Boltfast (Pty) Ltd's Johannesburg branch is included in the held-for-sale disposal group as disclosed in note 13.

*** All assets and liabilities of the fresh fruit segment is included in the held-for-sale disposal group as disclosed in note 13.
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4. Segment reporting (continued)

4.2 Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

GROUP

Net interest bearing
liabilities

2020 2019
R'000 R'000

Agri Inputs and Services 1 646 259 1 534 760
Fresh Fruit 468 281 457 892
Food Processing (3 682) (3 897)
Health Foods (150 394) (48 892)
Corporate and consolidation adjustments (436 477) 32 419

1 523 987 1 972 282

5. Financial risk management

5.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to various financial risks:

(a) market risk (including price risk and currency risk) and cash-flow and fair value interest rate risk;
(b) credit risk; and
(c) liquidity risk. 

The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. 

Management is responsible for the Group's risk management, and identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks where needed in close co-operation with the
Group's operating units. The Board of Directors provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

(a) Market risk (including price risk and currency risk) and cash-flow and fair value interest rate risk

Foreign currency exposure at balance sheet date

GROUP
Currency 2020 2019

R'000 R'000

Liabilities
Trade and other payables (US Dollar) US Dollar 10 628 16 008
Trade and other payables (Euro) Euro 8 936 2 343

(i) Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group imports products from abroad and is exposed to a foreign exchange rate risk arising from various currency exposures, mainly the US Dollar, British
Pound and Euro. Foreign exchange rate risk arises when imports of products realise at another exchange rate as the one at which the order took place for
products which have already been contracted at an agreed price.

The functional currency is ZAR and Management has prepared a policy stipulating how the foreign exchange risk will be managed. To manage the foreign
exchange rate risk, the Group makes use of exchange rate hedging instruments which commence when predetermined exchange rate levels are reached. The
exchange rate hedging instruments are concluded with a financial institution.

On 29 February 2020, if the exchange rate changed by R1, the effect on the profit after taxation would be R864,871 (2019: R1,309,359). All exposure to foreign
currency are hedged by forward exchange contracts ("FEC's"). Refer to note 36 for foreign exchange gains and losses.

(ii) Price risk

Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk as a result of commodities that are held as stock. Losses will be shown if the net realisable value decreases to
less than the cost price of the commodities held.

At year-end, should the price for the commodity indicated below, have strengthened/weakened by 1%, with all other variables being constant,  the after tax
profit for the year will decrease/increase, as follows:

GROUP
2020 2019
R'000 R'000

Steel 797 895
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Equity security price risk

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk due to investments held by the Group and  classified on the Statement of financial position as FVOCI.
Equities will increase/decrease as a result of any profits/losses on equity securities classified as FVOCI.

A variation of a 20.00% change in the carrying value of FVOCI investments would have resulted in a R913 982 movement (pre-tax) in other comprehensive
income (2019: R108 080 911).

(iii) Cash-flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's income and operational cash flow depends to a lesser extent on changes in market interest rates. The interest rates of instalment sale agreement
contracts where the Group is the supplier in respect of instalment sale agreement assets are determined upon commencement of the instalment sale
agreement contract and adjusted to current market interest rates.

The Group's cash-flow interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, non-current and current loans. Loans granted at variable rates expose the
Group to cash-flow interest rate risk.

At year-end, should the interest rates have strengthened/weakened by 100 basis points against the respective currencies with all other variables being
constant, the after-tax profit for the year would have been R1,228,763 (2019: R4,074,544) higher/lower, primarily due to variable interest rate changes.

(b) Credit risk

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

The Group is exposed to credit risk if counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

For financial assets the following credit risk modelling applies:

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

- Internal credit rating;

- External credit rating (as far as available);

- Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the borrower's
ability to meet its obligations;

- Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower and significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the
same borrower;

- Significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or credit enhancements; and

- Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group and
changes in the operating results of the borrower.

Macroeconomic information (such as market interest rates or growth rates) is incorporated as part of the internal rating model.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if

(a) debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment; and

(b) a default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 60 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The
Group categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual payments greater than 120 days past due. Where loans or
receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made,
these are recognised in profit or loss.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

(i)(a) Credit risk pertaining to trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. The loss allowance provision as at 29 February 2020 is determined as follows; the expected credit losses below also
incorporate forward looking information.

29 February 2020 Current More than 30
days past due

More than 60
days past due

More than 120
days past due

Total

Expected loss rate 0.48% 1.31% 2.50% 13.80%

Gross carrying amount (R'000) 352 314 141 764 98 519 736 458 1 329 055
Loss allowance provision (R'000) 1 699 1 850 2 460 101 631 107 640

28 February 2019 Current More than 30
days past due

More than 60
days past due

More than 120
days past due

Total

Expected loss rate 0.56% 1.33% 0.60% 4.68%

Gross carrying amount (R'000) 409 258 226 975 214 182 421 882 1 272 297
Loss allowance provision (R'000) 2 305 3 029 1 293 19 755 26 382

The loss allowance provision for trade receivables as at 29 February 2020 reconciles to the opening loss allowance for that provision as follows:

GROUP
2020 2019
R'000 R'000

Opening balance in accordance with IAS 39 in 2019 26 382 17 841
Amounts restated through opening retained earnings - 2 277

Opening balance in accordance with IFRS9 26 382 20 118
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the period 81 258 5 125
Acquired through business combinations - 1 139

Closing balance 107 640 26 382

The gross carrying amount of trade receivables is R1 581 578 000 (2019: R1 546 621 000).

During the period, the Group has written off bad debts to the value of R3,186,350 (2019: R235,023), and it does not expect to receive future cash flows from
and no recoveries from collection of cash flows previously written off.

(i)(b) Credit risk relating to loans to customers and instalment sale receivables

Over the term of the loans, the Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the company considers historical loss rates for each category of customers, and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.
The Group provides for credit losses against loans to customers as follows:

Group internal rating Criteria Basis for recognition of Basis for calculation of

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        expected credit loss provision                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               interest revenue                 

Performing Not past due 12 month expected credit losses Gross carrying value

Underperforming Instalment default past 30 days Lifetime expected credit losses Gross carrying value

Non-performing Instalment default past 60 days Lifetime expected credit losses Amortised cost carrying amount 

(net of credit allowance)

The gross carrying value of the loans to customers and instalment sale receivables, and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as follows:

29 February 2020
R'000

28 February 2019
R'000

Loans to
customers

Instalment sale
receivables

Loans to
customers

Instalment sale
receivables

Performing 64 903 252 523 26 388 274 324
Underperforming - - - -
Non-performing - - - -

Total gross receivables 64 903 252 523 26 388 274 324
Less: Loss allowance - - (1 649) -

Receivables net of expected credit losses 64 903 252 523 24 739 274 324

The Group's credit risk arises from credit exposure to agriculture, wholesale and retail debtors, cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks. Continuous
credit evaluations of the financial positions, past experience, the vesting of suitable securities, as well as other factors of such debtors are performed
individually in accordance with a formal credit policy which is continuously re-evaluated to take account of changes in risks. The Group's cash and cash
equivalents are placed at high credit quality financial institutions. Refer to notes 11 and 22.
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(ii) Cash and cash equivalents

29 February 2020 - Group Credit Limit Current
utilisation of
credit limit

Available
cash and

cash
equivalents

Available
balance

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
Cash and cash equivalents 111 002 (26 353) 511 374 596 023

28 February 2019 - Group Credit Limit Current
utilisation of
credit limit

Available
cash and

cash
equivalents

Available
balance

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
Cash and cash equivalents 119 818 (50 046) 254 334 324 106

Standard Bank's credit rating by Moody's in March 2020 was judged Baa3, which denotes to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such
may possess certain speculative characteristics.

ABSA's credit rating by Moody's in March 2020 was judged Baa3, which denotes to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may
possess certain speculative characteristics.

FirstRand's (including divisions First National Bank and Wesbank) credit rating by Moody's in March 2020 was judged Baa3, which denotes to be medium-
grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may possess certain speculative characteristics.

Nedbank's credit rating by Moody's in March 2020 was judged Baa3, which denotes to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may
possess certain speculative characteristics.

(iii) Financial guarantees

The maximum exposure to credit guarantees is detailed in note 48.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies the maintenance of sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding by means of a sufficient
number of approved credit facilities and the ability to fully unbundle market positions. As a result of the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
Management intends to maintain funding adjustability by keeping available approved lines of credit.

Maturity analysis:
29 February 2020 - Group

Within 1 year Between 1 and
5 years

More than 5
years

Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
Instalment sale agreements 12 099 17 410 - 29 509
Borrowings 1 439 334 338 824 60 447 1 838 605
Trade and other payables 539 431 6 351 - 545 782
Lease liabilities 18 264 60 930 112 170 191 364

2 009 128 423 515 172 617 2 605 260

Maturity analysis:
28 February 2019 - Group

Within 1 year Between 1 and
5 years

More than 5
years

Total

R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000
Instalment sale agreements 16 527 27 182 - 43 709
Borrowings 1 903 019 679 385 61 901 2 644 305
Trade and other payables 520 631 4 550 - 525 181
Loans from related parties 9 081 960 - 10 041

2 449 258 712 077 61 901 3 223 236

These amounts will be financed from cash and cash equivalents of R510 403 633 (2019: R245 202 064), approved facilities of R2,729,743,003 (2019:
R2,855,845,844) of which R1,235,197,185 (2019: R1,126,767,519) are available, as well as the realising of other assets, including investments.
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5.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, it considers the Group's commitments, availability of funding and
the risks associated with each. There are no external capital requirements imposed on the Group.

There were no major changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the year and the Board of Director's policy is to maintain a strong capital
base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of business and acquisitions. Capital is herein defined as
equity attributable to equity holders of the Group.

The own capital ratios are as follows:

GROUP
2020 2019
R'000 R'000

Total capital and reserves 2 886 691 3 130 233
Total assets * 5 022 832 5 616 970
Own capital ratio %57.47 %55.73

* Excludes debtors financed through the securitisation vehicle, Overberg Agri Finance (RF) Ltd.

5.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly
(that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The following table presents the group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 29 February 2020. See note 12 for disclosures of the
financial assets that are measured at fair value and note 14 for disclosures of the biological assets that are measured at fair value.

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Biological assets
- Livestock - 3 414 - 3 414
- Plants - - 587 587

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Equity securities
- Agricultural industry - - - -
- Financial services 4 570 - - 4 570
- Companies and others - - - -

Total assets 4 570 3 414 587 8 571

The following table presents the group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 28 February 2019.

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Biological assets
- Livestock - 3 549 - 3 549
- Biological consumable assets - Citrus & Table grapes - - 214 111 214 111
- Plants - - 999 999

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Available-for-sale financial assets
Equity securities

- Agricultural industry 362 250 - - 362 250
- Financial services 3 943 - - 3 943
Companies and others - 165 781 8 430 174 211

Total assets 366 193 169 330 223 540 759 063
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year.

(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by die group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1. Instruments included in Level 1 comprise primarily JSE equity investments classified as
available-for-sale.

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3.

6. Property, plant and equipment

Group 2020 2019

Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Land and buildings 353 364 (58 431) 294 933 445 824 (40 867) 404 957
Machinery, motor vehicles
and equipment

885 041 (250 598) 634 443 874 354 (175 435) 698 919

Right-of-use assets 88 573 (18 658) 69 915 - - -
Capital work in progress 27 240 - 27 240 24 133 - 24 133
Decommissioning assets -Land 420 (22) 398 420 (20) 400
Decommissioning assets -Buildings 228 (114) 114 228 (107) 121

Total 1 354 866 (327 823) 1 027 043 1 344 959 (216 429) 1 128 530
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6. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2020

Opening Balance Additions and
borrowing costs

capitalised

Disposals Classified as
held for sale

Transfers Depreciation Reversal of
impairment loss

Total

Land and buildings 404 957 41 384 (15 948) (130 896) 4 285 (8 849) - 294 933
Machinery, motor vehicles and equipment 698 919 80 536 (14 974) (96 996) 41 919 (77 007) 2 046 634 443
Right-of-use assets - 90 702 - (4 888) - (15 899) - 69 915
Capital work in progress 24 133 56 814 - - (53 707) - - 27 240
Decommissioning assets - Land 400 - - - - (2) - 398
Decommissioning assets - Buildings 121 - - - - (7) - 114

1 128 530 269 436 (30 922) (232 780) (7 503) (101 764) 2 046 1 027 043

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2019

Opening Balance Additions and
borrowing costs

capitalised

Additions through
business

combinations

Disposals Classified as
held for sale

Transfers Depreciation Impairment loss Total

Land and buildings 266 366 57 692 217 038 (21 543) (104 207) 37 (10 426) - 404 957
Machinery, motor vehicles and equipment 455 506 121 848 186 270 (24 073) (33 752) 60 362 (66 226) (1 016) 698 919
Capital work in progress 34 764 67 547 - - - (78 178) - - 24 133
Decommissioning assets - Land 402 - - - - - (2) - 400
Decommissioning assets - Buildings 129 - - - - - (8) - 121

757 167 247 087 403 308 (45 616) (137 959) (17 779) (76 662) (1 016) 1 128 530
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6. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Plant, equipment and motor vehicles with a book value of R191,456,374 (2019: R183,839,081) serve as security for borrowings and instalment sale
agreements (notes 27 and 28).

There is a first mortgage of R80,000,000 held over land with a book value of R6,384,978 (2019: R2,220,184) and a first special notarial bond of R50,000,000
held over plant and equipment with a book value of R71,038,752 (2019: R155,373,411) registered in favour of Nedbank Ltd. These serve as security for
borrowings (note 27).

Land and buildings with a book value of R179,030,863 (2019: R187,040,294) serve as security for mortgage bonds from FirstRand Bank Ltd (note 27). These
land and buildings are disclosed as part of the held-for-sale disposal group as disclosed in note 13.

Land and buildings with a book value of R79,871,450 (2019: R82,479,256) serve as security for mortgage bonds from Nedbank Ltd (note 27). These land and
buildings are disclosed as part of the held-for-sale disposal group as disclosed in note 13.

Land and buildings with a book value of R255,491,335 (2019: R277,710,488) and plant, equipment and motor vehicles with a book value of R30,481,936 (2019:
R30,445,843) serve as security for the loan from The Land and Agricultural Development Bank of South Africa (note 27). These assets are disclosed as part of
the held-for-sale disposal group as disclosed in note 13.

The recoverable amount of silo buildings are calculated based on value-in-use for each cash-generating unit. For these calculations, current results and
assumptions are used (refer to note 1.38). Movements in impairments/impairment reversals are included in other profits and losses in the Income statement.

During the year, the Group capitalised borrowing costs amounting to R3,529,029 (2019: R4,405,632) on qualifying assets. Borrowing costs were capitalised at a
prime-linked interest rate.

Depreciation expense of R67,604,284 (2019: R48,573,789) has been charged in 'operating expenses', R857,899 (2019: R851,510) in 'administration costs' and
R33,301,023 (2019: R27,236,355) in 'cost of sales'.

The registers with full particulars of land and buildings are available for inspection by shareholders or their authorised agents at the registered offices of the
respective Companies.
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7. Investment property

Group 2020 2019

Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Investment property 283 550 (10 846) 272 704 255 941 (7 265) 248 676

Reconciliation of investment property - Group - 2020

Opening
Balance

Additions Transfers Depreciation Total

Investment property 248 676 20 106 7 503 (3 581) 272 704

Reconciliation of investment property - Group - 2019

Opening
Balance

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

Investment property 220 747 14 864 (1 494) 17 779 (3 220) 248 676

Management deems the fair value of investment property to be R295,294,000 on 29 February 2020 (2019: R284,310,068). In determining the fair value of
investment property, Management takes into account the latest selling values, municipal valuations, age of the property and general market conditions.

The rental income earned from investment property amounts to R11,435,665 (2019: R11,317,786) for the year. Direct operating expenditure of investment
property amounts to R4,726,186 (2019: R2,812,544). Direct operating expenditure accrued by investment property represents the actual expenditure incurred
for rates, insurance and repairs and maintenance of investment property.

Investment property to a maximum value of R101,4 million were encumbered to First National Bank as disclosed in note 27.

Depreciation expense of R3,581,375 (2019: R3,220,026) has been charged in 'operating expenses'.

The registers with full particulars of investment property are available for inspection by shareholders or their authorised agent at the registered offices of the
respective Companies.
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8. Intangible assets

Group 2020 2019

Cost Accumulated
amortisation and

impairment

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
amortisation and

impairment

Carrying value

Trademarks 9 302 (4 059) 5 243 42 645 (5 343) 37 302
Mineral reserves 24 945 (1 164) 23 781 24 945 (1 164) 23 781
Software 56 384 (6 520) 49 864 48 698 (2 567) 46 131
Client relationships 45 474 (21 016) 24 458 292 275 (33 726) 258 549
Goodwill * 118 378 - 118 378 336 279 - 336 279

Total 254 483 (32 759) 221 724 744 842 (42 800) 702 042

* net of impairment

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 2020

Opening
Balance

Additions Classified as
held for sale

Amortisation Impairment
loss

Total

Trademarks 37 302 3 120 (1 089) (349) (33 741) 5 243
Mineral reserves 23 781 - - - - 23 781
Software 46 131 10 426 (1 969) (4 724) - 49 864
Client relationships 258 549 - (95 156) (20 188) (118 747) 24 458
Goodwill 336 279 - (166 897) - (51 004) 118 378

702 042 13 546 (265 111) (25 261) (203 492) 221 724

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 2019

Opening
Balance

Additions Additions
through

business
combinations

Amortisation
and

impairment

Total

Trademarks 4 091 - 33 741 (530) 37 302
Mineral reserves 23 864 - - (83) 23 781
Software 28 659 15 399 2 613 (540) 46 131
Client relationships 29 501 4 472 242 044 (17 468) 258 549
Goodwill 122 436 5 248 217 901 (9 306) 336 279

208 551 25 119 496 299 (27 927) 702 042

Trademarks, Mineral reserves, Software and Client relationships

Amortisation is written off to the Income statement and included under operating expenditure. Impairment is written off to the Income statement and included
under other profits and losses.

Impairment test for intangible assets

Management assessed the intangible assets for possible impairment by investigating indicators showing a possibility that impairment may have occurred.

Goodwill, client relationships, trademarks and mineral reserves acquired in business combinations are allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units
(CGU's) that are expected to benefit from the business combination.
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8. Intangible assets (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill, client relationships, trademarks and mineral reserves have been allocated as follows:

29 February 2020

Goodwill Trademarks Client
relationships

Mineral
reserves

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd 37 003 - 1 235 -
Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd 77 848 - 12 027 -
Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd - - - 23 781
Boltfast (Pty) Ltd - 2 123 2 600 -
Overberg Wealth and Risk Management (Pty) Ltd 3 527 3 120 8 596 -

118 378 5 243 24 458 23 781

28 February 2019

Goodwill Trademarks Client
relationships

Mineral
reserves

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd 37 003 - 2 096 -
Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd 77 848 - 13 732 -
Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd - - - 23 781
Boltfast (Pty) Ltd - 3 561 2 940 -
Overberg Wealth and Risk Management (Pty) Ltd 3 527 - 10 528 -
Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd 44 481 - 122 509 -
ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd 166 897 - 102 383 -
Montagu Dried Fruit and Nuts (Pty) Ltd 6 523 33 741 4 361 -

336 279 37 302 258 549 23 781

(i) Classification of intangible assets:

29 February 2020

Goodwill Trademarks Client
relationships

Mineral
reserves

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Definite - 5 243 24 458 23 781
Indefinite 118 378 - - -

118 378 5 243 24 458 23 781

28 February 2019

Goodwill Trademarks Client
relationships

Mineral
reserves

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Definite - 3 561 258 549 23 781
Indefinite 336 279 33 741 - -

336 279 37 302 258 549 23 781
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8. Intangible assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment considerations for intangible assets relating to Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd, Moov Fuel (Pty)
Ltd, Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd, Boltfast (Pty) Ltd, Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd and  Montagu Dried
Fruit and Nuts (Pty) Ltd

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit (CGU) is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth
rates as stated below.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

a) Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd

29 February 2020 (Agpack and Loxton)

Goodwill Client
relationships

Discount rate (post-tax) 12.60% 12.60%
Growth rate 5.50% 5.50%
Long term growth rate 5.70% 5.70%

28 February 2019 (Agpack and Loxton)

Goodwill Client
relationships

Discount rate (post-tax) 10.34% 10.34%
Growth rate 5.50% 5.50%
Long term growth rate 5.70% 5.70%

The budgeted turnover and growth rate are based on management expectations of the industry. The growth rate used represents the long-term growth rate
based on forecasted inflation rates. The discount rate represents a post-tax rate based on the Group's weighted average cost of capital.

A reasonable possible change in the key assumptions above on which management has based its determination of the recoverable amount would not cause
the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

b) Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd

29 February 2020

Goodwill Client
relationships

Discount rate (post-tax) 18.21% 18.21%
Long-term growth rate 5.10% 5.10%

28 February 2019

Goodwill Client
relationships

Discount rate (post-tax) 14.90% 14.90%
Long-term growth rate 5.50% 5.50%

A reasonable possible change in the key assumptions above on which management has based its determination of the recoverable amount would not cause
the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

c) Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd

29 February 2020

Mineral
reserves

Growth in gross profit per year 5.00%
Discount rate (post-tax) 17.50%
Long-term growth rate 5.00%

28 February 2019

Mineral
reserves

Growth in gross profit per year 5.00%
Discount rate (post-tax) 19.10%
Long-term growth rate 5.00%

Management determined the budgeted gross margins based on past performance and its expectations for market development. The long-term growth rate
used is based on forecasted inflation rates. The discount rate represents a post-tax rate based on the Group's weighted average cost of capital.
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8. Intangible assets (continued)

d) Boltfast (Pty) Ltd

29 February 2020

Trademarks Client
relationships

Growth in gross profit per year 6.98% - 17.96% 6.98% - 17.96%
Discount rate (post-tax) 14.50% 14.50%
Long-term growth rate 5.20% 5.20%

28 February 2019

Trademarks Client
relationships

Growth in gross profit per year 1.49% - 9.50% 1.49% - 9.50%
Discount rate (post-tax) 16.00% 16.00%
Long-term growth rate 5.50% 5.50%

Management determined the budgeted gross margins based on past performance and its expectations for market development. The long-term growth rate
used is based on forecasted inflation rates. The discount rate represents a post-tax rate based on the Group's weighted average cost of capital.

For client relationships and trademarks, a reasonable possible change in the key assumptions above on which management has based its determination of the
recoverable amount would not cause the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

e) Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd

29 February 2020

Goodwill Client
relationships

Discount rate (post-tax) 17.90% 17.90%
Long-term growth rate 5.00% 5.00%

28 February 2019

Goodwill Client
relationships

Discount rate (post-tax) 19.60% 19.60%
Long-term growth rate 10.00% 10.00%

A reasonable possible change in the key assumptions above on which management has based its determination of the recoverable amount would not cause
the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

(i) Impairment
An impairment charge of R159,343,672 in the current year is as a result of one of the subsidiaries, Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd's recent
performance under difficult trading conditions. The  recoverable amount, calculated using the value-in-use incorporating assumptions above, amounted to
R106million, resulting in the impairment charge. The subsidiary company assessed the depreciation policies of property, plant and equipment and 
estimated that their useful lives will not be affected. The subsidiary company assessed the depreciation policies of property, plant and equipment and 
estimated that their useful lives will not be affected.

f) Montagu Dried Fruit and Nuts (Pty) Ltd

29 February 2020

Goodwill Trademarks Client
relationships

Discount rate (post-tax) 17.30% 17.30% 17.30%
Long-term growth rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

28 February 2019

Goodwill Trademarks Client
relationships

Discount rate (post-tax) 16.10% 16.10% 16.10%
Long-term growth rate 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%

A reasonable possible change in the key assumptions above on which management has based its determination of the recoverable amount would not cause
the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

(i) Impairment
An impairment charge of R44,148,673 in the current year is as a result of one of the subsidiaries, Montagu Dried Fruit and Nuts (Pty) Ltd's recent
performance under difficult trading conditions. The  recoverable amount, calculated using the value-in-use incorporating assumptions above, amounted to
R53million, resulting in the impairment charge. The subsidiary company assessed the depreciation policies of property, plant and equipment and estimated
that their useful lives will not be affected.
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8. Intangible assets (continued)

(iii) Impairment considerations for indefinite intangible assets relating to ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd

During the previous year, the Group have used fair value less costs to sell to determine the recoverable amount of the ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd CGU. An external
valuator was engaged to obtain the fair values of the majority of the agricultural assets. The impairment calculation was sensitive to the fair value of land,
buildings and biological bearer assets and a number of variables contained therein. A devaluation in the fair value of the agricultural assets would lead to an
impairment charge on goodwill and / or client relationships to the following extent: 

Percentage decrease in aggregate fair value

Potential
impairment

charge

5% 33m - 39m
10% 66m - 80m
20% 165m - 200m

9. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group - 29 February 2020

Financial
assets at
amortised

cost

Financial
assets at fair
value through

OCI

Total

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ¹ - 27 475 27 475
Trade and other receivables 1 597 920 - 1 597 920
Loans and other receivables 49 160 - 49 160
Cash and cash equivalents 511 374 - 511 374
Loans to customers 64 903 - 64 903

2 223 357 27 475 2 250 832

Group - 28 February 2019

Financial
assets at
amortised

cost

Financial
assets at fair
value through

OCI

Total

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ¹ - 540 405 540 405
Trade and other receivables 1 590 233 - 1 590 233
Loans and other receivables 156 580 - 156 580
Cash and cash equivalents 254 334 - 254 334
Loans to customers 24 739 - 24 739

2 025 886 540 405 2 566 291

Company - 29 February 2020

Financial
assets at
amortised

cost

Financial
assets at fair
value through

OCI

Total

Trade and other receivables 13 500 - 13 500
Loans and other receivables 989 872 - 989 872

1 003 372 - 1 003 372
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9. Financial assets by category (continued)

Company - 28 February 2019

Financial
assets at
amortised

cost

Financial
assets at fair
value through

OCI

Total

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ¹ - 165 781 165 781
Trade and other receivables 13 500 - 13 500
Loans and other receivables 776 228 - 776 228

789 728 165 781 955 509

¹ Refer to note 12.

10. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group - 29 February 2020

Other financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

Total

Non-current borrowings 477 888 477 888
Current borrowings 1 436 789 1 436 789
Trade and other payables 451 670 451 670
Bank overdraft 26 353 26 353

2 392 700 2 392 700

Group - 28 February 2019

Other financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

Total

Non-current borrowings 663 158 663 158
Current borrowings 1 477 161 1 477 161
Trade and other payables 452 273 452 273
Bank overdraft 50 046 50 046
Dividend payable 17 796 17 796

2 660 434 2 660 434

11. Financial instruments credit quality

The credit quality of the financial assets not past due and on which no impairment has been made, may be determined with reference to the historical
information.

Trade receivables
New clients 61 145 54 929 - -
Current clients with no non-payment history 730 619 1 208 528 - -

Total trade receivables 791 764 1 263 457 - -

Cash and cash equivalents
ABSA Bank (460) 4 914 - -
Standard Bank 17 334 25 533 - -
First National Bank 224 162 87 726 - -
Nedbank 243 148 74 946 - -
Foreign bank balances 67 7 872 - -
Cash 770 3 297 - -

Total cash and cash equivalents 485 021 204 288 - -
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Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

11. Financial instruments credit quality (continued)

Standard Bank's credit rating by Moody's in March 2020 was judged Baa3, which denotes to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such
may possess certain speculative characteristics.

ABSA's credit rating by Moody's in March 2020 was judged Baa3, which denotes to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may
possess certain speculative characteristics.

FirstRand's (including divisions First National Bank and Wesbank) credit rating by Moody's in March 2020 was judged Baa3, which denotes to be medium-
grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may possess certain speculative characteristics.

Nedbank's credit rating by Moody's in March 2020 was judged Baa3, which denotes to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may
possess certain speculative characteristics.

12. Other financial assets

Beginning of the year 540 404 660 702 165 781 -
Investments acquired 28 246 717 - -
Acquired through issue of shares - 143 062 - 134 889
Investments derecognised (635 411) (40 178) (165 781) -
Fair value adjustments 107 268 (223 899) - 30 892
Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale (13 032) - - -

27 475 540 404 - 165 781

Financial assets consist of the following:

Listed investments ¹
- Companies

 Pioneer Foods Ltd shares: nil (2019: 4,500,000)
- 362 250 - -

Unlisted investments ²
- BKB Ltd shares: nil (2019: 10,361,297) - 165 781 - 165 781
- Fruitspec Ltd: 12% interest (2019: nil) 22 905 - - -
- Other unlisted investments - 8 430 - -

Unit Trust investments ¹

 Momentum Consult (Pty) Ltd - ABSA Absolute Fund (B) (1,396,258.39 at R1.63 per unit) [2019:

1,309,862.03 at R1.72 per unit]

2 277 2 247 - -

 Liberty Group Ltd - Excelsior Managed Cautious Fund (7,573.90 at R303.60 per unit) [2019:

5,664.96 at R300.54 per unit]

2 293 1 696 - -

27 475 540 404 - 165 781

¹ Financial assets carried at fair value are in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
² Financial assets carried at fair value are in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Fair value hierarchy:
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument.
Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which significant inputs are based on observable market data.
Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data.

During the previous year, the other financial assets of one of the subsidiaries were encumbered through a cession of 4,500,000 Pioneer Foods Ltd shares in
favour of Sanlam Private Wealth (note 27).

For the determination of fair values of unlisted investments refer to note 1.38.
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13. Discontinued operations - disposal group

The Group resolved to dispose of their investment in ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd. The investment, which is expected to be sold within the next 12 months, has been
classified as a disposal group held for sale and is presented separately in the statement of financial position. On reclassification assets and liabilities of the
disposal  are shown at the lower of their carrying value and the fair value less costs to sell and an impairment loss if R166 millon was recognised.

One of the subsidiaries in the Group, Boltfast (Pty) Ltd, resolved to dispose of its Johannesburg branch's operations as a going concern within the next 12
months. Consequently the assets and liabilities relating to these operations have been presented as a disposal group held for sale and is presented separately
in the statement of financial position.

In the previous year, the Group resolved to dispose of their investment in Bearnibbles SA (Pty) Ltd. The transaction was concluded in the current financial year.

In the previous year, one of the subsidiaries in the Group, ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd, passed a special resolution on 30 November 2018 approving:

- The disposal of all the assets (immovable & movable) at fair market value of Ambalagi Citrus (Pty) Ltd, Rodash 114 (Pty) Ltd and Rooiland Boerdery (Pty) Ltd
within the next 12 months. An impairment loss of R30,000,000 has been recognised on the classification of these assets as held for sale;
- The disposal of Portions 1, 15 and 16 of Farm Goedehoop together with the attached water rights of Copperzone; and
- The release of Fruitstar’s lease agreement with Cedarpoint and the company be moved to discontinued operations.

Financial information relating to the discontinued operations for the period to the date of disposal is set out below:

Profit and loss

Revenue 483 941 458 391 - -
Cost of sales (446 533) (341 834) - -
Other income 36 281 56 534 - -
Expenses (177 148) (217 304) - -
Financing income 11 657 9 406 - -
Finance cost (32 064) (27 715) - -
Other profits and losses (31 190) 10 033 - -
Loss from equity accounted investments (11 898) 250 - -
Impairment on disposal group (166 898) (30 000) - -
Fair value adjustment on biological assets (29 161) 51 629 - -
Net loss before tax

(363 013) (30 610) - -
Tax (33 163) 1 376 - -

Loss for the period (396 176) (29 234) - -

Assets and liabilities

Assets of disposal group
Property, plant and equipment 378 888 137 959 - -
Intangible assets 98 131 302 601 - -
Biological assets 529 096 - - -
Deferred tax 143 701 - - -
Inventory 32 857 8 736 - -
Trade and other receivables 89 515 5 465 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 970 9 132 - -
Other assets 166 729 117 087 - -

1 439 887 580 980 - -

Liabilities of disposal group
Other financial liabilities 64 917 36 250 - -
Instalment sale agreements 12 142 - - -
Deferred tax liability 33 599 68 677 - -
Bank overdraft 24 873 - - -
Lease liabilities 84 987 - - -
Trade and other payables 90 486 13 706 - -

311 004 118 633 - -

Cash flows of discontinued operations
Cash flows (utilised in) from operating activities (58 173) (32 904) - -
Cash flows (utilised in) from investing activities (70 507) (58 127) - -
Cash flows from (utilised in) financing activities 100 090 20 037 - -

(28 590) (70 994) - -
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14. Biological assets

Group 2020 2019

Cost / Valuation Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value Valuation Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Livestock¹ 3 414 - 3 414 3 549 - 3 549

Biological consumable assets - Citrus & Table Grapes³ - - - 214 111 - 214 111

Biological bearer assets - Citrus & Table Grapes - - - 282 243 (65 051) 217 192

Plants² 587 - 587 999 - 999

Total 4 001 - 4 001 500 902 (65 051) 435 851

Reconciliation of biological assets - Group - 2020

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Classified as
held-for-sale

Depreciation Fair value
adjustments

Total

Livestock¹ 3 549 - - - - (135) 3 414

Biological consumable assets - Citrus & Table Grapes³ 214 111 - - (190 406) - (23 705) -

Biological bearer assets - Citrus & Table Grapes 217 192 22 286 (9 004) (223 976) (4 661) (1 837) -

Plants³ 999 - - - - (412) 587

435 851 22 286 (9 004) (414 382) (4 661) (26 089) 4 001

Reconciliation of biological assets - Group - 2019

Opening
balance

Additions Additions through
business

combinations

Disposals Classified as
held-for-sale

Depreciation Fair value
adjustments

Total

Livestock¹ 3 236 - - - - - 313 3 549

Biological consumable assets - Citrus & Table Grapes³ - - 162 482 - - - 51 629 214 111

Biological bearer assets - Citrus & Table grapes - 12 411 378 916 (11 391) (116 643) (15 611) (30 490) 217 192

Plants³ - - 566 - - - 433 999

3 236 12 411 541 964 (11 391) (116 643) (15 611) 21 885 435 851

52



Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 29 February 2020

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

14. Biological assets (continued)

The Group conducts farming activities including a herd of sheep and the cultivation of grain crops. Grain, sheep and wool are traded. On 29 February 2020 the
Group held 1 864 sheep [1 292 fully grown and 572 lambs] (2019: 2 034 sheep [1 683 fully grown and 351 lambs]). The Group produced the following,
measured against fair value less selling costs at point of harvest:

Sheep 1 745 1 429 - -
Wool 953 1 013 - -
Grain 2 413 4 949 - -

5 111 7 391 - -

During the previous year, the fruit on trees and vines were valued by utilising the projected revenue for the following year multiplied by the deferral percentage.
The deferrable percentage takes into account the production period of citrus and grape farms to ensure that the matching concept is applied between revenue
and cost of sales. The production period takes into account citrus export, citrus local, citrus juice, grape export, grape local, grape juice and raisins. The fair
value of consumables is sensitive to change in the above unobservable inputs, namely projected revenue which comprise assumptions in inflation, growth, risk
factors such as hail, security, competition and other factors as well as the deferral percentage. The fair value of the consumable asset would increase or
decrease based on increases or decreases in these inputs. During the current year the biological assets of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd have been classified as part of
the held-for-sale disposal group as disclosed in note 13.

Deferral rates used in determining of Biological consumable assets:

Description 2020
%

2019
%

2020
%

2019
%

Turnover budget export - Citrus %25 %25 - -
Turnover budget export - Grapes %70 %70 - -
Turnover budget local - Citrus %35 %35 - -
Turnover budget local - Grapes %70 %70 - -
Turnover budget - Raisins %50 %50 - -

Fair value hierarchy:

¹ Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument.

² Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which significant inputs are based on observable market data.

³ Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data.

The fair value of biological assets is determined by using the available market price for the end of each reporting period.

Net biological assets

Non-current assets 4 001 221 740 - -
Current assets - 214 111 - -

4 001 435 851 - -
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15. Investments in subsidiaries

Name of Company % holding
2020

% holding
2019

Carrying
amount 

2020

Carrying
amount 

2019
Investments held directly by the company
Investment in AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd %100.00 %100.00 1 439 900 1 439 900

Investments held indirectly by the company
Investment in Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd %100.00 %100.00 - -
Investment in Boltfast (Pty) Ltd %74.00 %74.00 - -
Investment in Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd %74.00 %74.00 - -
Investment in Overberg Meat (Pty) Ltd %100.00 %100.00 - -
Investment in Overberg Agri Management Services (Pty) Ltd %100.00 %100.00 - -
Investment in Acorn Health Foods (Pty) Ltd %100.00 %100.00 - -
Investment in ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd * %98.44 %98.44 - -
Investment in Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd %65.02 %65.02 - -
Investment in Montagu Dried Fruit and Nuts (Pty) Ltd %100.00 %100.00 - -
Investment in Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd %60.42 %51.05 - -
Investment in Overberg Wealth and Risk Management (Pty) Ltd %70.00 %70.00 - -
Investment in Kempston Consult (Pty) Ltd %100.00 %100.00 - -
Investment in AAF Services (Pty) Ltd %100.00 %100.00 - -

1 439 900 1 439 900

* The financial year end date of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd is 30 November. The reason for the year end date being different to the rest of the Group, is that ACG
Fruit's harvest season is in February / March and it is therefore not practical to move their year-end to February. The financial statements of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd
for the year ended 30 November 2019 have been used, and appropriate adjustments have been made for the effects of significant transactions between that
date and 29 February 2020.

The carrying amounts of subsidiaries are shown net of impairment losses.

Details of the abovementioned investments are provided in Annexure A.

Reconciliation of investment in AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd
Opening balance 1 439 900 182 954
Acquisition - 1 256 946

Nett 1 439 900 1 439 900
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16. Deferred tax

Deferred taxation is calculated on all temporary differences according to the liability method and at a normal taxation rate of 28.00% (2019: 28.00%), and capital
gains tax rate of 22.40% (2019: 22.40%)

The movement on the deferred taxation account comprises the following:

Deferred taxation asset

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset:

Beginning of the year 194 053 2 891 - -
Movement for the year:
-  Carried over from deferred tax liability - - - -
-  Taxation loss (28 749) 43 714 - -
-  Depreciation and amortisation (57 949) (4 244) - -
-  Provisions 43 577 10 413 - -
-  Deferred revenue 2 779 191 - -
-  Biological assets 12 594 (42 208) - -
-  Business combinations - 183 250 - -
-  Non-current assets held-for-sale (143 701) - - -
-  Other financial assets (86) - - -
-  Inventory - 46 - -

22 518 194 053 - -

The balance comprises the following:

Calculated assessed loss 25 271 314 727 - -
Accelerated wear and tear (47 582) (17 704) - -
Accelerated amortisation of intangible assets (1 312) (1 820) - -
Biological assets (1 117) (107 771) - -
Provisions 44 198 5 877 - -
Deferred revenue 3 523 744 - -
Other financial assets (463) - - -

22 518 194 053 - -

Deferred taxation liability

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability:

Beginning of the year (268 173) (200 433) (17 294) -
Movement for the year:

- Carried over to deferred tax asset - - - -
- Taxation loss (1 611) 8 129 - -
- Depreciation and amortisation 88 871 (19 036) - -
- Provisions (10 692) 6 643 - -
- Deferred revenue (25 845) 400 - -
- Biological assets 1 664 (883) - -
- Investment property - fair value adjustment - - - -
- Other financial assets 76 827 33 073 17 294 (17 294)
- Business combinations - (95 350) - -
- Operating lease liability 577 (716) - -
- Transferred to liabilities of disposal groups 33 599 - - -

(104 783) (268 173) - (17 294)

The balance comprises the following:

Accelerated amortisation on intangible assets (1 892) (115 943) - -
Accelerated wear and tear (86 529) (89 513) - -
Other financial assets 473 (76 233) - (17 294)
Biological assets - (13 989) - -
Calculated assessed loss 9 699 17 548 - -
Deferred revenue (23 014) 2 831 - -
Provisions 3 679 14 902 - -
Operating lease liability 55 (522) - -
Investment property - fair value adjustment (7 254) (7 254) - -

(104 783) (268 173) - (17 294)

The deferred taxation asset is recognised where taxable income is expected to be realised as indicated by budgets and approved by Management.
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16. Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred taxation is not provided for where there is no expectation of future taxable income in the near future.

17. Inventory

Grain and other products 72 140 68 030 - -
Work-in-progress 8 459 11 213 - -
Raw materials 4 160 38 834 - -
Finished goods 467 814 456 837 - -
Consumable inventory 12 618 51 896 - -

565 191 626 810 - -

Borrowing costs to the value of R1,193,317 (2019: R949,336) have been capitalised and included in the seed value at an interest rate of prime less 1.80%
(2019: prime less 1.80%). Refer to note 37.

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in 'cost of sales' amounted to R6,988,873,657 (2019: R7,013,589,271).

Management has written off trade- and grain inventory of R5,146,219 (2019: R7,386,396) to net realisable value. The write-off is included in cost of sales in the
Income statement.

Management made a provision for impairment of inventory. Included in trading stock is a provision of R9,424,759 (2019: R9,440,653) as an adjustment for slow
moving inventory. The movement in the provision is included in cost of sales in the Income statement.

There is a negative pledge in favour of Nedbank Ltd over unencumbered stock of R347 million (2019: R279 million) in conjunction with an undertaking from the
borrower not to encumber unencumbered assets prior to written consent from Nedbank.

18. Investments in associates and joint ventures

GROUP GROUP

Name of company
% holding

2020
% holding

2019
Carrying
amount

2020
R'000

Carrying
amount

2019
R'000

Procuro Grain (Pty) Ltd %- %33.00 - 4 812
Lesotho Milling Company (Pty) Ltd %35.10 %35.10 68 744 62 793
Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd %39.10 %39.10 - 16 888

68 744 84 493

Reconciliation of investments in associates and joint ventures
Balance at 01 March 84 493 147 274
(Disposal) / acquisition of investment - Procuro Grain (Pty) Ltd (4 812) 5 001
Acquisition of investment - Lesotho Milling Company (Pty) Ltd - 59 098
Acquisition through business combination - Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd - 16 638
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (16 888) -
Share of loss - ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd - (9 101)
Share of loss - Procuro Grain (Pty) Ltd - (189)
Share of profit - Lesotho Milling Company (Pty) Ltd 5 951 3 695
Share of profit - Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd - 250
Fair value profit / (loss) on change in control - ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd - 25 565
Change in control - ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd - (163 738)

Balance at 29 February 68 744 84 493

The investment held in Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd forms part of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd and have been classified as part of the held-for-sale
disposal group as disclosed in note 13.

The carrying amounts of associates are shown net of impairment losses.
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18. Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

Investments in associates from continuing operations consists of:

Lesotho Milling Company (Pty) Ltd (Year-end 30 September)

Lesotho Milling
Company (Pty) Ltd
2020
R'000

2019
R'000

Summarised statement of financial position (unaudited)
as at 28 February
Non-current assets 35 616 34 291
Current assets 107 824 99 501
Non-current liabilities (1 612) (969)
Current liabilities (5 937) (1 891)

Net assets 135 891 130 932

Lesotho Milling
Company (Pty) Ltd
2020
R'000

2019
R'000

Reconciliation to carrying amount
Opening balance 140 929 -
Equity at acquisition - 130 402
Profit for the period from 1 March 2019 to 29 February 2020 (2019: 2 May 2018 to 28 February 2019) 16 957 10 527

Closing net assets at end of year 157 886 140 929
Company's share (%) %35.10 %35.10

Company's share 55 418 49 466
Intangible assets: Goodwill 13 327 13 327

Carrying amount at end of year 68 745 62 793

Summarised statement of comprehensive income (unaudited)
Revenue 93 485 68 215

Net profit after income tax 16 957 10 527
Company's share (%) %35.10 %35.10

Share of profit after income tax 5 952 3 695

19. Loans to group companies

Subsidiaries

AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd - - 958 258 744 614
AAF Services (Pty) Ltd - - 31 614 31 614

- - 989 872 776 228

These loans are unsecured, interest-free and have no terms of repayment. The carrying value represents the fair value of the loans.
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20. Loans to (from) related parties

Remus Trust 583 539 - -
DJ Erasmus Trust 17 17 - -
Erasmus Vervoer Trust 3 608 (2 387) - -
JTS Trust - (3 151) - -
Andre Oberholzer Trust - (4 503) - -
LP Claassen - (426) - -
Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd - 124 023 - -
Tsweni Trust - 1 887 - -
Ruvisra (Pty) Ltd - 2 594 - -
JA Muller - 390 - -
DT van der Merwe Family Trust - 282 - -
D Erasmus (54) 10 101 - -
P Erasmus (62) 11 639 - -
Platinum Trust 35 912 5 534 - -
AEE Fund GP (Pty) Ltd 5 658 - - -
Green Living Ventures 2 500 - - -
G Greaves 500 - - -
C Knezovich 498 - - -

49 160 146 539 - -

Remus Trust, DJ Erasmus Trust and Erasmus Vervoer Trust (loans in Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd)

The loans to Remus Trust and DJ Erasmus Trust are unsecured, interest is determined from time to time, and the loans are repayable on demand. The loan
from Erasmus Vervoer Trust is unsecured, bear interest at a prime-linked interest rate and is repayable on demand.

JTS Trust, Andre Oberholzer Trust, LP Claassen (loans in ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd)

The loan from JTS Trust bore interest at 18.40%. The loan was repayable in monthly instalments of R80,000 and ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd held shares as collateral.
The loans from Andre Oberholzer Trust and LP Claassen were unsecured, bore no interest and was repayable on demand. During the current year these loans
are classified as part of non-current assets held for sale as disclosed in note 13.

Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd (loan in ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd)

In the previous year, a loan of R64 735 432 was unsecured, bore interest at a prime-linked interest rate and was repayable on business day after the final
repayment by Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd of all Industrial Corporation Development loans. A loan of R59 287 625 was unsecured, bore interest
at a prime-linked interest rate and was repayable on demand. During the current year these loans are classified as part of non-current assets held for sale as
disclosed in note 13.

Tsweni Trust and Ruvisra (Pty) Ltd (loans in Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd)

The loans to Tsweni Trust and Ruvisra (Pty) Ltd were secured by a cession of shares held in Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd and were repayable within
five years. The loans were interest free. Dividends withholding tax was paid on the deemed interest as set out in section 64E of the Income Tax Act, no. 58 of
1962.

JA Muller and DT van der Merwe Family Trust (loans in Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd)

The loans to JA Muller and DT van der Merwe Family Trust were unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 

D Erasmus and P Erasmus (loans in AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd)

These loans were secured by:
a) 81 shares held by Remus Trust in subsidiary, Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd; and
b) 781 430 shares held by LTN Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd in holding company, Acorn Agri and Food Ltd.
The loans bore interest at a prime-linked interest rate and were repayable on 15 July 2019 by means of shares being transferred to AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd
amounting to the approximate value of the loan accounts. The remaining balance will be paid out to D Erasmus and P Erasmus after year-end.

Platinum Trust (loan in AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd)

The first loan was secured by 216 shares held by Platinum Trust in one of the subsidiaries in the group, Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd, bore interest at a prime-linked
interest rate, and was repayable on 15 July 2019. The second loan of R35,777,000 is in lieu of additional shares being acquired from Platinum Trust by AAF
Invest (Pty) Ltd after year-end. The loan is interest free and is repayable in March 2020.

Acorn Equity Empowerment Fund GP (Pty) Ltd (loan in Moov Holdings (Pty) Ltd)

The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and is repayable on demand.

Green Living Ventures, G Greaves and C Knezovich (loans in The Health Food Group (Pty) Ltd)

These loans are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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20. Loans to (from) related parties (continued)

The carrying value represents the fair value of the loans.

Non-current assets 5 658 5 153 - -
Current assets 43 502 151 427 - -
Non-current liabilities - (960) - -
Current liabilities - (9 081) - -

49 160 146 539 - -

21. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 1 329 055 1 272 297 - -
Instalment sale agreements 252 523 274 324 - -
Less: Loss allowance provision (107 640) (26 382) - -

1 473 938 1 520 239 - -
Other receivables:

South African Revenue Services - VAT 24 201 48 276 - -
Staff loans 11 939 - -
Prepayments 13 499 23 099 - -
Erasmus Vervoer Trust - 6 461 - -
Procuro Grain (Pty) Ltd - 1 411 - -
Ithuba Fuel (Pty) Ltd 14 469 12 045 - -
Sundries 19 987 43 673 13 500 13 500

1 546 105 1 656 143 13 500 13 500
Less: Non-current portion of instalment sale agreements (153 798) (168 723) - -
Less: Long-term portion of prepayments (8 186) (3 349) - -

1 384 121 1 484 071 13 500 13 500

(i) Classification of trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. They are generally due for
settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Details about
the group’s impairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance are provided in note 1.9.

(ii) Classification of instalment sale agreements

Instalment sale agreements are classified as other receivables carried at amortised cost, with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows.

(iii) Impairment and risk exposure

Note 4.1(b)(i) sets out information about the impairment of financial assets and the group’s exposure to credit risk.

All of the financial assets at amortised cost are denominated in ZAR currency units. As a result, there is no exposure to foreign currency risk. There is also no
exposure to price risk as the investments will be held to maturity.
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21. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The Group holds the following types of securities, other than the underlying assets that serve as security, that are taken into account in determining any
provision for impairment of trade receivables:

• Mortgages over property 282 645 163 843 - -
• Notarial bonds 2 907 2 000 - -
• Cession of shares 500 939 277 421 - -
• Cession relating to grain - - - -
• Transfer of debt - - - -

786 491 443 264 - -

* Underlying assets serve as security for instalment sale agreements. Only R271,489,776 (2019: R186,566,242) of these securities are utilised in determining
the loss allowance.

On year end the total debtors balance sold to Overberg Agri Finance (RF) Ltd was R927,895,789 (2019: R1,038,606,099).

The Group has recognised a movement in provision of R81,258,450 (2019: R5,124,608) for impairment of trade receivables. The individual impairment of trade
receivables is in respect of debtors who could possibly not settle their debts from current activities. The provision for impairment has been included in sales and
marketing costs or other income in the Income statement.

The Group has written off bad debts to the value of R3,186,350 (2019: R235,023). Bad debts written off has been included in operating expenses and sales and
marketing costs in the Income statement.

Movement in the loss allowance provisions are as follows:

Opening balance in accordance with IAS 39 in 2019 26 382 17 841 - -
Amounts restated through opening retained earnings - 2 277 - -

Opening balance under IFRS 9 26 382 20 118 - -
Acquired through business combinations (note ) - 1 139 - -
Provision for impairment 99 446 19 279 - -
Trade receivables and instalment sale agreements written off as irrecoverable during the year (3 186) (235) - -
Unutilised amounts written back (15 002) (13 919) - -

Balance 29 February 107 640 26 382 - -

The maximum exposure to credit risk on the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable referred to above.

All instalment sale agreements are receivable within 6 years of the reporting date. The effective interest rate of the instalment sale agreements is linked to the
prime interest rate, based on the debtors’ risk profile. The dates of maturity of instalment sale agreements are as follows:

GROUP
At 29 February 2020 Capital Financing

costs
Instalments

R'000 R'000 R'000
Within one year 98 725 21 249 119 974
Between 1 and 2 years 68 608 15 762 84 371
Between 2 and 3 years 56 434 8 956 65 390
Between 3 and 4 years 28 493 3 416 31 909
Between 4 and 5 years 263 28 291

252 523 49 411 301 935

GROUP
At 28 February 2019 Capital Financing

costs
Instalments

R'000 R'000 R'000
Within one year 105 601 26 988 132 589
Between 1 and 2 years 74 585 17 682 92 267
Between 2 and 3 years 53 525 10 395 63 920
Between 3 and 4 years 38 526 5 120 43 646
Between 4 and 5 years 2 087 201 2 288

274 324 60 386 334 710

The effective interest rate on the receivables is as follows:

• At floating interest rates averaging 11.74% (2019: 12.43%).
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22. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances and cash on hand 471 186 215 379 - -
Short-term deposits 39 218 29 823 - -

- - - -

510 404 245 202 - -

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the year-end csh, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts comprise the following:

Cash and short-term deposits 510 404 245 202 - -
Short-term borrowings:
Bank overdraft (26 353) (50 046)

- -

484 051 195 156 - -

Current assets 510 404 245 202 - -
Current liabilities (26 353) (50 046) - -

484 051 195 156 - -

The Group has overdraft facilities with several financial institutions. The facilities bear interest as determined from time to time by these financial institutions
(currently 8.50% - 10.25% [2019: 10.00% - 10.50%]).

Short-term bank deposits amounting to R4,043,856 (2019: R5,569,694) are held in terms of SAFEX trade agreements and is not accessible other than for this
purpose.

The effective interest rate on bank balances and short-term bank deposits are as follows:

At floating interest rates: % % % %
Bank balances 0 - 9.75 0 - 10.25 - -
Short-term bank deposits 0 - 7.05 0 - 7.05 - -
Bank overdraft 8.5 - 10.25 10.0 - 10.5 - -

23. Current taxation

Current tax receivable 131 169 31 652 - -
Current tax payable (301) (579) - -

130 868 31 073 - -

Current tax payable - - - -

24. Loans to customers

Loans to customers 64 903 26 388 - -
Less: Loss allowance - (1 649) - -

64 903 24 739 - -

For credit quality of loans to customers refer to note 11.

These loans are secured, bear interest at Prime-linked interest rates and have fixed repayment terms.
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25. Share capital

Authorised
10 000 000 000 Ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 10 000 000 000 Ordinary shares of no par
value)

10 000 000 10 000 000 10 000 000 10 000 000

Issued
144 687 400 Ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 138 374 245 Ordinary shares of no par value) 1 720 671 1 599 569 1 720 670 1 599 569
Share premium - - - -
Treasury shares (256 155) (231 803) (234 156) (225 803)

1 464 516 1 367 766 1 486 514 1 373 766

All shares are fully paid up.

As part of the amalgamation between Overberg Agri Ltd and Acorn Agri (Pty) Ltd on 2 May 2018 two structured entities ('Acorn Manco 1 & 2'), owned by the
new executive management of Acorn Agri and Food Limited ('AAF Group'), purchased shares (approximating 7.5% of issued share capital at date of
amalgamation). Acorn Manco 1 & 2 funded this purchase by issuing preference shares that were subscribed to by the AAF Group at the same price as the
share issue of R25.60 per share. The funding, in the form of preference shares, provides for a cumulative preference share dividend at a coupon rate of 6% per
annum and redeemed at the nominal value over a set period of 10 years.

For IFRS disclosure purposes, AAF Group has in substance given the shareholders of Acorn Manco 1 & 2 an option to acquire shares in the AAF Group as part
of a long term incentive strategy. Due to the limitation of the recovery of the preference share funding provided by the AAF Group that the shareholders of Acorn
Manco 1 & 2 are exposed to, the risks and rewards of the AAF shares do not, according to IFRS disclosure requirements, transfer to the shareholders of Acorn
Manco 1 & 2. The AAF shares held by Manco 1&2 is therefore shown as treasury shares and the preference share funding are shown against the treasury
shares in the AAF Group financial statements resulting in no financial implication for the AAF Group for disclosure purposes.

During the current year additional shares were issued to Manco 1 pursuant to the conclusion of the sale of the Grassroots Bear division.

Additionally, AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd a 100% subsidiary of the company holds shares in AAF Group that gives rise to additional treasury shares in the consolidated
financial statements. During the current year the board approved a share repurchase scheme whereby company shares to the value of R16 million was
repurchased from shareholders. 

Reconciliation of issued shares (number)
Opening balance 138 374 245 7 796 111 138 374 245 7 796 111
Issue of shares 6 313 155 130 867 084 - 130 867 084
Share buyback - (288 950) - (288 950)

Closing balance 144 687 400 138 374 245 138 374 245 138 374 245

Reconciliation of treasury shares (number)
Opening balance 10 597 700 - 10 297 700 -
Issue of shares to Manco 1 and 2 - 10 297 700 - 10 297 700
Shares purchased by AAF Invest from outside shareholders - 300 000 - -
Issue of shares to Manco 1 in settlement of Grassroots Bear transaction 391 848 - 391 848 -
Shares repurchased by AAF Invest from outside shareholders pursuant to the share buy-
back announced during December 2019

946 498 - - -

Closing balance 11 936 046 10 597 700 10 689 548 10 297 700
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26. Post-employment medical liability

Post-employment medical benefits are payable to a specific grouping of participating former employees. Refer to note 1.23 for description of the plan. At year-
end the number of members consisting of former employees was 47 (2019: 51). The liability is unfunded.

Liability as at reporting date:
Post-employment medical liability 16 457 14 973 - -
Short-term portion of liability (1 979) (1 921) - -

14 478 13 052 - -

Costs recognised in the Income statement:
Post-employment medical benefits 2 596 1 359 - -

Movement in the liability recognised in the Statement of financial position:

Net liability at the beginning of the year 15 782 16 256 - -
Net expense recognised in the Income statement 1 296 1 359 - -
Movement through other comprehensive income 1 300 - - -
Contributions by the employer (1 921) (1 833) - -

Net liability at the end of the year 16 457 15 782 - -
Short-term portion of liability (1 979) (1 921) - -

Long-term portion of liability 14 478 13 861 - -

The amounts recognised in the Income statement and the Statement of other comprehensive income are as follows:

Interest paid 1 296 1 260 - -
Actuarial loss on liability 1 300 99 - -

2 596 1 359 - -

Actuarial loss / (gain) reconciliation

Contribution to actuarial loss / (gain)

Basis change increase in net discount rate (646) (639) - -
Medical inflation higher than assumed 471 471 - -
Changes to membership profile different from assumed (18) 267 - -
Application of post-mortality improvement 1 493 - - -

1 300 99 - -

Primary actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate %8.23 %8.73 - -
Healthcare inflation rate %5.38 %5.51 - -
Retirement age 65 / 60 65 / 60
Mortality post-retirement PA90-1

Ultimate
PA90-1

Ultimate

Sensitivity analysis of post-employment medical liability for former employees:

Effect of discount rate increase of 1.00% on the liability - 73 - -
Effect of healthcare inflation rate increase of 1.00% on the liability 971 991 - -
Effect of post-employment death date decrease of 1 year on the liability 742 738 - -

Non-current liabilities (14 478) (13 052) - -
Current liabilities (1 979) (1 921) - -

(16 457) (14 973) - -
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27. Other financial liabilities

Non-current

First National Bank - Term loan & Mortgage bonds 220 942 201 307 - -
Nedbank term loan & Mortgage bond 74 603 77 089 - -
The Land and Agricultural Development Bank of South Africa - 359 925 - -
Redeemable preference shares 80 000 - - -
Bank borrowings 110 4 068 - -

375 655 642 389 - -

Current
Nedbank - Production borrowings 654 453 647 899 - -
Nedbank - General  facility 418 000 350 002 - -
Nedbank - Term loan & Mortgage bond 12 928 10 050 - -
First National Bank - Term loan & Mortgage bonds 28 555 20 712 - -
Bank borrowings 3 400 3 048 - -
Shareholders loans 207 209 306 616 - -
Sanlam Private Wealth - Term loan - 124 132 - -

1 324 545 1 462 459 - -

1 700 200 2 104 848 - -

The Group has Nedbank borrowings with a revolving credit facility of R2,250 million (2019: R1,950 million) using a Special Purpose Vehicle through which
debtors are securitised. The facility bears interest at a sub-prime-linked interest rate. The loan is secured by a limited suretyship of R350 million and a negative
pledge over unencumbered stock of R347 million (2019: R279 million) in conjunction with an undertaking from the borrower not to encumber unencumbered
assets prior to written consent from Nedbank.

One of the covenants, the Interest Cover Ratio measured once a year, which are set out in the Servicing Agreement will potentially be breached in the 2020/21
financial year when Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd publishes its annual audited financial statements for 2020. In anticipation of this potential breach a waiver
was obtained on 2 June 2020 from the funders of the Special Purpose Vehicle resulting in no material negative financial implications for Acorn Agri and Food
Group or Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd.

The facility is provided by Nedbank Ltd and Bank of China. Any draw downs from the facility are repayable as and when the monies are received by Overberg
Agri Finance (RF) Ltd in the normal course of business. The remaining balance (if any) will be repaid on or before 28 February 2022. The loan facility bears
interest as determined from time to time at prime linked interest rates. The loan facility was effective on 1 March 2016.

The Nedbank term loan is repayable in monthly instalments over a period of five to eleven years. The term loan has been secured by plant and equipment with
a book value of R155,373,411 (2019: R143,160,134) (note 6). There is a first mortgage of R80,000,000 held over land with a book value of R2,220,184 (2019:
R2,340,777) and a first special notarial bond of R50,000,000 held over plant and equipment with a book value of R155,373,411 (2019: R81,748,360) registered
in favour of Nedbank Ltd. These serve as security for the facility.

The securities in favour of Nedbank impose certain covenants on one of the subsidiaries in the Group, Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd, stating that the
subsidiary will ensure that the following financial ratios are met:

 the all-in gearing on a company basis will not be more than 1.20:1, and

 the annual Cash to Debt Service cover will be a minimum of 1.5 or more.
During the year Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd was in compliance with all the financial covenants relating to its borrowings.

The First National Bank term loans bear interest at prime-linked rates and is repayable in monthly instalments over a period of 10 years. The term loans are
secured by general suretyship of R123,000,000 given by Acorn Agri and Food Ltd, general suretyship of R14,500,000 given by DJ Erasmus Vervoer (Pty) Ltd,
an unlimited general cession over receivables of R194,415,601 (2019: R177,856,464) (note 21), a cession of two Momentum life insurance policies of
R20,000,000 each (2019: R20,000,000 each), a cession over the loan accounts of Remus Trust, DJ Erasmus Trust and the Platinum Trust (note 20), a cession
and pledge of credit balances by Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd totalling R12,500,000 (2019: R12,500,000), a deed of negative pledge in respect of Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd
and DJ Erasmus Vervoer (Pty) Ltd's fuel distribution licences, a general notarial bond over moveable assets of R52,500,000 (2019: R52,500,000), covering
bonds to the value of R101,400,000 over selected land and buildings (2019: R101,400,000) (note 7), and a guarantee to the value of R10,500,000 (2019:
R11,500,000) provided in favour of Astron South Africa (Pty) Ltd with an expiry date of 31 December 2025.

During the previous year, the First National Bank mortgage bonds bore interest at prime-linked interest rates and was repayable in monthly and annual
instalments. The mortgage bonds were secured by general suretyship of R70,000,000 given by Rooiland Boerdery (Pty) Ltd, general suretyship of R70,000,000
given by Ambalagi Citrus (Pty) Ltd, general suretyship of R70,000,000 given by Bay Breeze Trading 484 (Pty) Ltd, general suretyship of R70,000,000 given by
Ouberg Boerdery (Pty) Ltd, general suretyship of R6,000,000 given by Oberholzer & Seuns Boerdery (Pty) Ltd, general suretyship of R21,900,000 given by
Andre Oberholzer, unlimited suretyship given by Deuceprops 25 (Pty) Ltd, general suretyship of R15,900,000 given by Atalia Boerdery (Pty) Ltd, a first general
composite bond over fixed property of R35,000,000, a first general bond over fixed property of R30,000,000, general covering bonds over land and buildings of
R68,500,000, and a cession of short-term insurance given by Ambalagi (Pty) Ltd, Bay Breeze Trading 484 (Pty) Ltd, Atalia Boerdery (Pty) Ltd and Oberholzer &
Seuns Boerdery (Pty) Ltd. During the current year this balance is classified as part of non-current assets held for sale as disclosed in note 13.

During the previous year, the Nedbank mortgage bonds bore interest at prime-linked interest rates and was repayable in 12 annual instalments commencing on
1 January 2019. The mortgage bonds were secured by limited suretyship of R27,000,000 by ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd, a first covering mortgage bond over land and
buildings for R27,000,000, a cession of all current and future debtors of Galactic Deals (Pty) Ltd and a cession of short-term insurance of buildings on property.
During the current year this balance is classified as part of non-current assets held for sale as disclosed in note 13.

64



Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 29 February 2020

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

27. Other financial liabilities (continued)

During the previous year, the Group had Land Bank borrowings with an overdraft facility of R350,000,000 that bore interest at a prime-linked interest rate, and
was repayable in monthly instalments commencing 1 January 2019. The loan was secured by covering bonds to the value of R341,000,000, general suretyship
given by ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd, Rooiland Boerdery (Pty) Ltd, Copperzone 108 (Pty) Ltd, Rowmoor Investments 1009 (Pty) Ltd, Sun Valley Estates (Pty) Ltd and
Ambalagi Citrus (Pty) Ltd, a cession over the loan accounts of Sun Valley Estates (Pty) Ltd, a cession of an insurance policy with Leading Edge Insurance
Brokers, and a cession over receivables of R36,005,562. During the current year this balance is classified as part of non-current assets held for sale as
disclosed in note 13.

The redeemable preference share represent 1 fully paid non-cumulative redeemable preference share at a coupon rate calculated at 75.00% of prime bank rate
less 2.00%. Dividends are payable annually and is non-cumulative. If a default occurs in the payment of dividends the preference share is redeemable at option
with a 30 days notice period. This share is redeemable at a 50.00% discount any time after 30 June 2020.

The shareholders loans represent deposits made by shareholders of Acorn Agri and Food Ltd and are unsecured. The number of shareholders with deposits
amounted to 160 in 2020 (2019: 151). The loans bear interest as determined from time to time at prime-linked interest rates. The loans are payable on demand.

The loan from Sanlam Private Wealth was secured by a cession of 4,500,000 Pioneer Foods Ltd shares (refer to note 12), bore interest at a prime-linked
interest rate and and had no fixed repayment conditions, however Sanlam Private Wealth could have given three months' written notice, with the capital and
accrued interest being payable on expiry of the three month period.

The Group's exposure to interest rate adjustments and contractual renewal dates at reporting date is as follows:

Within 1 year 1 324 545 1 462 459 - -
Within 1 to 5 years 321 822 589 311 - -
5 years and longer 53 833 53 078 - -

1 700 200 2 104 848 - -

The Group's total borrowing facilities available amount to R2,729,743,003 (2019: R2,855,845,844).

The Group has the following unutilised annually renewable borrowing facilities available at varying interest rates:

Borrowing facilities provided by financial institutions 1 235 197 1 126 768 - -

The carrying value of the long- and short-term borrowings is approximately equal to the fair value thereof.

28. Instalment sale agreements

Minimum payments due
 - within one year 12 099 16 527 - -
 - in second to fifth year inclusive 17 410 27 182 - -
 - later than five years - - - -

29 509 43 709 - -
Less: future finance charges (3 778) (8 238) - -

Present value of minimum payments
due 25 731 35 471 - -

Present value of minimum payments due
 - within one year 10 258 14 702 - -
 - in second to fifth year inclusive 15 473 20 769 - -
 - later than five years - - - -

25 731 35 471 - -

Non-current liabilities 15 473 20 769 - -
Current liabilities 10 258 14 702 - -

25 731 35 471 - -

The instalment sale agreements, in respect of fixed assets, are repayable within 12 to 84 (2019: 12 to 84) monthly instalments. The instalments decrease as
existing agreements mature. The instalment sale agreements bear interest at prime-linked interest rates.

The instalment sale agreements are secured by plant and equipment with a book value of R40,737,387 (2019: R36,204,814) (note 6) and motor vehicles with a
book value of R2,611,162 (2019: R2,033,381) (note 6).

The carrying value of the borrowings is approximately equal to the fair value thereof.
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29. Trade and other payables

Trade payables 361 183 396 461 - (1)
South African Revenue Services - VAT - - - -
Audit fees 4 083 4 631 - -
Accrued expenditure

•  Leave 11 037 11 604 - -
•  Profit bonus - 3 840 - -
•  Performance incentive scheme 3 502 9 442 - -
•  Compensation commissioner - 1 207 - -
•  Other 28 014 32 290 3 482 3 482
Operating lease liability - (1 864) - -
Share based payments - 126 - -
Deferred revenue 46 780 53 049 - -
Commission provision 697 689 - -

455 296 511 475 3 482 3 481
Less: Long-term portion of share based payment
liability, operating lease liability and deferred revenue (6 351) (4 550) - -

448 945 506 925 3 482 3 481

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue relates to storage levies raised in the current financial year which will only accrue in the next financial year as the grain costs are incurred.
Refer to note 1.38.

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates its fair value at year-end.

30. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - Group - 2020

Opening
Balance

Movement in
Income

statement

Total

Rehabilitation of mining land 1 048 46 1 094

Reconciliation of provisions - Group - 2019

Opening
Balance

Movement in
Income

statement

Total

Rehabilitation of mining land 1 003 45 1 048

Rehabilitation of mining land

Nedbank provided a guarantee on behalf of a subsidiary of the Group to the Department of Minerals and Energy for the estimated future rehabilitation cost. It is
possible that the estimate of the rehabilitation liability could change as a result of changes in regulations or cost estimations. The carrying amount of the
rehabilitation obligations for the Group at 29 February 2020 was R1,093,572 (2019: R1,048,424).

Non-current liability 1 094 1 048 - -
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31. Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers

Gross revenue from contracts with customers 7 983 793 7 975 785 - -

Net revenue from contracts with customers *
Sale of goods 7 129 699 6 998 893

- -

Rendering of services 618 082 714 974 - -

7 747 781 7 713 867 - -

Revenue other than from contracts with customers
Rental Income 13 552 12 220 - -
Franchise fees - 2 530 - -
Dividends received (trading) 8 279 26 769 13 585 65 415

21 831 41 519 13 585 65 415

7 769 612 7 755 386 13 585 65 415

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The group disaggregates revenue from customers as follows:

Sale of goods recognised at a point in time
Retail sales 2 276 988 2 391 258 - -
Wholesale sales 4 852 711 4 607 635 - -

7 129 699 6 998 893 - -

Rendering of services recognised over time
Administration fees received 6 440 5 866 - -
Retail services 132 765 146 229 - -
Commission received 38 869 34 405 - -
Grain services 417 356 509 554 - -
Transport 22 652 18 920 - -

618 082 714 974 - -

Total revenue from contracts with customers 7 747 781 7 713 867 - -

* Gross revenue of goods and services include 100% of the income received in respect of sales where the Group Ltd acts as an agent. Net revenue only
includes the commission earned on the transactions where the Group acts as an agent, representing the revenue attributable to the Group.

Income includes sales of inventory, storage levies, labour sold, services rendered and commission received on short-term insurance and commission earned
on the transactions where the group act as agents (refer to note 1.27). For one of the subsidiaries, Mineral Royalty Tax amounting to R38 026 (2019: R45 653)
is deducted from Revenue. Refer to note 1.19.

32. Interest revenue

Interest charged on trade and other receivables 109 598 87 873 - -
Interest charged on instalment sale agreements 32 210 28 898 - -
Interest received - South African Revenue
Services 19 12 - -
Interest received - other 2 300 1 143 - -

144 127 117 926 - -
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33. Other income

Rental income

•   Investment properties 2 637 2 668 - -
•   Other properties 3 171 6 091 - -
Bad debts recovered 27 164 - -
Transport expense recovered 4 147 3 571 - -
Foreign exchange gains 1 967 5 099 - -
Franchisee fees 1 603 1 587 - -
Recoupment of utilities 3 975 3 864 - -
Training income 20 - - -
Gain on initial recognition of preference share 80 000 - - -
Sundry income 8 967 6 935 8 352 -

106 514 29 979 8 352 -

34. Financing income

Interest revenue
Interest received - Bank 55 130 14 449 - -

35. Other profits and losses

Net profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 887 871 - -
Reversal of impairment on property, plant and equipment 2 046 - - -
Impairment on goodwill and other intangible assets (203 492) (9 550) - -
Net profit on sale of investment in subsidiary 282 850 - 3 275 49 962
Net profit on disposal or step-up acquisition of investment in associate 189 25 565 - -
Fair value adjustment on biological assets (412) 433 - -
Gain on bargain purchase - 9 083 - -

85 068 26 402 3 275 49 962

36. Operating profit

Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Depreciation 85 712 95 493 - -
Amortisation 17 851 27 927 - -
Write-off and provision of inventory to net
realisable value 1 043 507 - -
Proceeds from the harvesting of biological assets (5 111) (7 391) - -
Adjustment of fair value of biological assets 547 (21 885) - -
Bad debts 3 186 235 - -
Provision for impairment of receivables 81 258 5 125 - -
Rent paid 47 290 65 509 - -
Profit bonus - 2 768 - -

Employee costs
Salaries and wages 401 687 458 702 - -
Other costs 13 913 23 953 - -
Performance incentive scheme and share based payment provision 10 240 9 375 - -
Retirement benefit cost 27 791 25 325 - -

453 631 517 355 - -

Auditor's remuneration
Audit fees for statutory auditing

   - current year provision 6 523 4 925 - -
   - under / (over)provision previous year 1 766 39 - -
Other fees paid to auditors of the Group

   - Consulting and tax advisory services 1 797 322 - -
   - Other 1 609 1 043 - -

11 695 6 329 - -
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36. Operating profit (continued)

Expenses by nature (Continued and discontinued operations)
Changes in inventory of finished goods and work in progress (56 489) 162 996 - -
Purchase of goods (7 378 918) (7 294 262) - -
Employee remuneration and
benefit expense (453 631) (517 355) - -
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (268 236) (123 420) - -
Maintenance (69 436) (63 825) - -
Foreign exchange losses (1 012) (3 408) - -
Auditor's remuneration (11 695) (6 329) - -
Internal Auditor's remuneration (1 572) (1 730) - -
Provision for impairment of receivables, including write-offs (81 258) (5 125) - -
Motor vehicle expenses (5 551) (6 717) - -
Transportation expenses (58 288) (37 437) - -
Rent paid (47 290) (65 509) - -
Security (7 296) (6 003) - -
Insurance (18 927) (20 015) - -
Management fee paid to Acorn Private Equity (Pty) Ltd (28 323) (16 152) - -
Telephone expenses (5 218) (5 195) - -
Water and electricity (54 196) (44 909) - -
Printing and stationery (4 411) (4 371) - -
Trade promotions - - - -
Travel and accommodation (7 387) (5 313) - -
Profit bonus - (2 768) - -
Goodwill impairment (217 901) (9 550) - -
Other expenses (82 667) (46 471) - (185)

Total cost of sales, selling and marketing costs, operating expenses, administrative costs
and items of a capital nature (through Income statement) (8 859 702) (8 122 868) - (185)

37. Finance costs

Gross interest paid
Bank 154 615 111 270 - -
Shareholders' loans 18 996 22 224 - -
Lease liabilities 9 211 - - -
Instalment sale agreements 747 2 554 - -
Other interest paid 2 838 4 207 - -

186 407 140 255 - -

Less: Interest paid capitalised
Seed 1 193 949 - -
Instalment sale agreements - 1 399 - -
Property, plant and equipment 3 529 4 406 - -

4 722 6 754 - -

Net interest paid
Bank 149 893 105 915 - -
Shareholders' loans 18 996 22 224 - -
Lease liabilities 9 211 - - -
Instalment sale agreements 747 1 155 - -
Other interest paid 2 838 4 207 - -

181 685 133 501 - -

Borrowing costs capitalised are attributable to borrowings specifically concluded in respect of qualifying assets (refer to notes 6 and 17).
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38. Taxation

Major components of the tax (income) expense

Current taxation
Current period 47 220 49 950 - -
Local income tax - recognised in current tax for prior periods - (73) - -
Withholding tax - current period 3 4 - -

47 223 49 881 - -

Deferred taxation
Current period (119 474) 5 968 - -

(72 251) 55 849 - -

Reconciliation of the tax expense (%)

Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate.

Applicable tax rate %28.00 %28.00 %28.00 %28.00

Non-taxable income %2.06 %(4.67) %(28.00) %(28.00)
Non-allowable expenditure %(72.66) %6.67 %- %-
Prior year adjustments for taxation %(0.90) %0.49 %- %-
Capital gains taxation %69.01 %(2.59) %- %-
Other permanent differences %(9.46) %(0.33) %- %-

%16.05 %27.57 %- %-
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39. Earnings per share

Basic and headline earnings per share 

The calculation of earnings per ordinary share is based on earnings as detailed below and on the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue. 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 131 240 119 298

        - Issued shares ('000) 142 197 127 847
        - Less: Treasury shares ('000) (10 957) (8 549)

a) Earnings reconciliation

Profit attributable to equity holders (315 091) 111 305

        - From continuing operations 80 213 144 686
        - From discontinued operations (395 304) (33 381)

Continued operations adjusted for:
        (Profit) / loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (3 887) (1 345)
        Reversal of impairment on property, plant and equipment (2 046) -
        Gain on bargain purchase - (9 083)
        (Profit) / loss on sale of investment in subsidiary (282 850) -
        (Profit) / loss on sale of majority of assets of subsidiary - (9 559)
        (Profit) / loss on step-up acquisition of investment in associate (189) (25 565)
        Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 203 492 9 550
        Total tax effects of adjustments 27 159 3 053
        Total non-controlling interest effects on adjustments 128 117 (2)

Headline earnings - continued operations 150 009 111 735

Basic earnings per share (cents) - continued operations 61.1 121.3
Headline earnings per share (cents) - continued operations 114.3 93.7

Discontinued operations adjusted for:
        Loss / (profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment (5 311) (353)
        Impairments on biological assets 1 606 -
        Impairments on loans 21 304 -
        Impairment on disposal group 166 898 30 000
        Total tax effects of adjustments 1 487 (8 301)
        Total non-controlling interest effects on adjustments (481) (333)

Headline earnings - discontinued operations (209 801) (12 368)

Basic earnings per share (cents) - discontinued operations (301.2) (28.0)
Headline earnings per share (cents) - discontinued operations (159.9) (10.4)

Basic earnings per share (cents) - continued and discontinued operations (240.1) 93.3
Headline earnings per share (cents) - continued and discontinued operations (45.6) 83.3
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39. Earnings per share (continued)

b) Core headline earnings reconciliation¹

Headline earnings (59 792) 99 367

        - From continuing operations 150 009 111 735
        - From discontinued operations (209 801) (12 368)

Headline earnings from continuing operations adjusted for:
        Amalgamation costs - 420
        Amortisation on trademarks and client relationships 13 129 11 794
        First year loss on investments in associates (refer to note 18) - 189
        Promotional spend with regards to sale agreement - 27 231
        Total tax effects of adjustments (3 676) (10 927)
        Total non-controlling interest effects on adjustments - (6 858)

Core headline earnings - continued operations 159 462 133 584

Core headline earnings per share (cents) - continued operations 121.5 112.0

Headline earnings from discontinued operations adjusted for:
        Amortisation on trademarks and client relationships 7 408 6 204
        Lag accounting in relation to the period 1 December to 29 February (ACG Fruit) (25 197) 35 809
        Total tax effects of adjustments (2 074) (1 737)

Core headline earnings - discontinued operations (229 664) 27 908

Core headline earnings per share (cents) - discontinued operations (175.0) 23.4

Core headline earnings per share (cents) - continued and discontinued operations (53.5) 135.4

¹ Headline earnings are adjusted for certain items that, in the Boards view, may distort the financial results from year
to year, giving shareholders a more consistent reflection of the underlying financial performance of the Group.

40. Cash generated from / (used in) operations

Profit before taxation
- Continuing operations 119 499 228 221 25 212 115 192
- Discontinued operations (363 013) (30 610) - -

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 149 498 114 114 - -
Loss (profit) on sale of assets 85 (1 345) (3 275) (49 962)
Loss on sale of investment in associate 9 802 (25 565) - -
Profit on sale of investment in subsidiary (282 850) - - -
Income from equity accounted investments 5 947 5 345 - -
Dividends received - - - -
Interest received (199 257) (141 665) - -
Finance costs 181 685 159 054 - -
Impairment on goodwill and property, plant and equipment 368 343 10 734 - -
Profit from sale of investments - - - -
Change in fair value of biological assets 26 089 29 744 - -
Provision for post-employment medical benefits 1 484 (1 283) - -
Accrual for performance incentive (5 940) 8 286 - -
Accrual for profit bonus (3 840) (2 258) - -
Provision for impairment of receivables 81 258 5 125 - -
Bad debts written off 3 186 235 - -
Provision for rehabilitation of mining land 45 45 - -
Gain on initial recognition of preference share 80 000 - - -
Foreign exchange gains (1 967) (10 938) - -
Share options granted - (3 378) - -
Provision for stock write-offs (16) 2 015 - -
Bargain purchase recognised - (9 674) - -
Other non-cash flow items 3 447 3 526 (8 353) -

Changes in working capital:
Inventory 32 148 (89 263) - -
Trade and other receivables (56 046) (152 676) - (13 500)
Trade and other payables 30 012 (87 187) 1 3 481
Production borrowings 6 554 27 175 - -

186 153 37 777 13 585 55 211
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41. Dividends paid

Balance at beginning of the year (17 796) - - -
Distribution according to the statement of changes
in equity (230 193) (60 848) (64 895) (47 745)
Balance at end of the year - 17 796 - -

(247 989) (43 052) (64 895) (47 745)

Ordinary dividends of R0.40 (2019: R0.55) and a special dividend of R0.15 (2019: R nil) per share was declared and paid during the financial year.

42. Tax paid

Balance at beginning of the year 31 073 19 757 - -
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (49 345) (55 062) - -
Acquired through business combination - (7 276) - -
Balance at end of the year (130 868) (31 073) - -

(149 140) (73 654) - -

43. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - Group - 2020

Opening
balance

Cash flows Closing
balance

First National Bank - Term loans & Mortgage bonds 222 019 27 478 249 497
Nedbank - Production borrowings 647 899 6 554 654 453
The Land and Agricultural Development Bank of South Africa 359 925 (359 925) -
Nedbank - General facility 350 002 67 998 418 000
Nedbank - Term loan & Mortgage bond 87 139 392 87 531
Other bank borrowings 43 366 (39 856) 3 510
Shareholders loans 306 616 (99 407) 207 209
Instalment sale agreements 35 471 (9 740) 25 731
Sanlam Private Wealth - Term loan 124 132 (124 132) -
Redeemable preference shares - 80 000 80 000

Total liabilities from financing activities 2 176 569 (450 638) 1 725 931
Less: Cash flow movement of production borrowings included in working capital movement (note 40) (647 899) (6 554) (654 453)

1 528 670 (457 192) 1 071 478

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - Group - 2019

Opening
balance

Business
combina-

tions

Total
non-cash

movements

Cash flows Closing
balance

First National Bank - Term loans & Mortgage bonds 163 031 47 672 47 672 11 316 222 019
Nedbank - Production borrowings 620 724 - - 27 175 647 899
The Land and Agricultural Development Bank of South Africa - 346 213 346 213 13 712 359 925
Nedbank - General facility 120 000 - - 230 002 350 002
Nedbank - Term loan & Mortgage bond 56 480 27 189 27 189 3 470 87 139
Other bank borrowings 8 200 1 439 1 439 33 727 43 366
Shareholders loans 323 880 - - (17 264) 306 616
Instalment sale agreements 24 447 47 025 47 025 (36 001) 35 471
Unigro Financial Services - 48 691 48 691 (48 691) -
Sanlam Private Wealth - Term loan - - - 124 132 124 132

Total liabilities from financing activities 1 316 762 518 229 518 229 341 578 2 176 569
Less: Cash flow movement of production borrowings included in working capital
movement (note 40)

(620 724) - - (27 175) (647 899)

696 038 518 229 518 229 314 403 1 528 670
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44. Lease liabilities

Details pertaining to leasing arrangements, where the group is lessee are presented below: 

Net carrying amounts of right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets are as follows:

Buildings 68 063 - - -
Machinery, motor vehicles and equipment 1 852 - - -

69 915 - - -

Additions to right-of-use assets

Buildings 88 563 - - -
Machinery, motor vehicles and equipment 2 139 - - -

90 702 - - -

Depreciation recognised on right-of-use assets

Depreciation recognised on each class of right-of-use assets, is presented below. It includes depreciation which has been expensed in the total depreciation
charge in profit or loss (note 36), as well as depreciation which has been capitalised to the cost of other assets.

Buildings 15 612 - - -
Machinery, motor vehicles and equipment 287 - - -

15 899 - - -

Other disclosures

Interest expense on lease liabilities 9 211 - - -
Expenses on short term leases included in operating expenses 1 417 - - -
Leases of low value assets included in operating expenses 485 - - -
Total cash outflow from leases (14 575) - - -

Lease liabilities

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:

Within one year 23 686 - - -
Two to five years 54 228 - - -
More than five years 111 521 - - -

189 435 - - -
Less finance charges component (93 278) - - -

96 157 - - -

Non-current liabilities 86 759 - - -
Current liabilities 9 398 - - -

96 157 - - -
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45. Other comprehensive income

Components of other comprehensive income - Group - 2020

Gross Tax Net

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 
Exchange differences arising during the year 258 - 258

Other financial assets adjustments 
Fair value adjustments on other financial assets (103 916) - (103 916)
Derecognition due to sale of financial assets 286 625 (95 942) 190 683

182 709 (95 942) 86 767

Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans (1 300) - (1 300)

Total 181 667 (95 942) 85 725

Components of other comprehensive income - Group - 2019

Gross Tax Net

Other financial assets adjustments 
Fair value adjustments on other financial assets (239 780) 33 078 (206 702)
Derecognition due to sale of financial assets 15 675 (6 746) 8 929

(224 105) 26 332 (197 773)

Components of other comprehensive income - Company - 2020

Gross Tax Net

Other financial assets adjustments 
Fair value adjustments on other financial assets (30 891) 17 294 (13 597)

Components of other comprehensive income - Company - 2019

Gross Tax Net

Other financial assets adjustments 
Gains and losses arising during the year 30 891 (17 294) 13 597

46. Operating lease commitments

The Group leases various assets under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Within 1 year - 47 982 - -
Within 2 - 5 years - 178 602 - -
After 5 years - 28 667 - -

- 255 251 - -

75



Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 29 February 2020

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

47. Capital obligations

Property, plant and equipment
Amounts approved
- Contracted 15 355 63 191 - -
- Not contracted 93 740 193 573 - -

109 095 256 764 - -

Intangible assets
Amounts approved
- Contracted - - - -

These amounts will be financed from own and borrowed funds.

48. Contingent liabilities and guarantees

Guarantees

The following guarantees are provided: 

Total South Africa 1 200 1 200 - -
Engen Petroleum Ltd 800 800 - -
Eskom 987 987 - -
Department of Minerals Resources 1 060 1 060 - -
Theewaterskloof Municipality 19 19 - -
IDC loan (see below) - 260 317 - -

4 066 264 383 - -

Other guarantees

AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd has committed to provide financial support to AAF Services (Pty) Ltd to be able to carry on with business as a going concern. The liabilities
of AAF Services (Pty) Ltd exceed its assets by (R23,625,006).

Acorn Agri and Food Ltd provided a guarantee of R123 million to First National Bank in respect of term loans of Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd. Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd's
financial position is sound and, in the opinion of management, has the capacity to meet the future liabilities in time. 

Acorn Agri and Food Ltd provided a guarantee of R450 million (2019: R350 million) to Nedbank in respect of production borrowings of Overberg Agri Bedrywe
(Pty) Ltd. Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd's financial position is sound and, in the opinion of management, has the capacity to meet the future liabilities in time. 

Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd provided a guarantee of R10,500,000 in favour of Astron South Africa (Pty) Ltd with an expiry date of 31/12/2025.

Contingent liability for grain stored on behalf of third parties

Contingent liability for wheat and barley stored on behalf of third parties R1,434,899,842 (2019: R1,496,020,340).
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49. Related parties - Group and Company

`

Subsidiaries Refer to Annexure A 

Associates of the Group Refer to note 18

Directors Refer to General Information on page 1

49.1 Related party balances

(i) Loans (from) / to related parties 

    • AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd - - 958 258 744 614
    • AAF Services (Pty) Ltd - - 31 614 31 614
    • ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd - - - -
    • Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd 153 259 124 023 - -
    • Minority shareholders of subsidiary companies (refer to note 20) 49 160 22 516 - -
    • Shareholders (207 209) (306 616) - -

(4 790) (160 077) 989 872 776 228

(ii) Investments in subsidiaries 

    • AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd - - 1 439 900 1 439 900

      Investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in Annexure A.

(iii) Year end balances from the sale/purchase of goods/services 

Trade receivables
    • ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd - - - -
    • Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd 1 043 5 421 - -

Trade payables
    • Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd 1 812 4 348 - -

49.2 Related party transactions

(i) Commission received

Commission received
   • Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd 8 792 3 223 - -

(ii) Key personnel remuneration 

      Short-term employee benefits paid by subsidiaries 2 909 2 917 - -
      Share based payment provision - (354) - -
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49. Related parties - Group and Company (continued)

(iii) Dividends received from subsidiaries 

      Intergroup dividends received on shareholding - - 13 585 65 415

(v) Director's remuneration 

    Executive

    • Remuneration for services as directors paid by subsidiaries * 8 328 7 915 - -

    Non executive

    • Remuneration for services as directors paid by subsidiaries 2 626 2 163 - -

10 954 10 078 - -

* From 2 May 2018 this fee was paid through a management fee agreement with Acorn Private Equity (Pty) Ltd

(vi) Interest paid to / received from related parties 

    Interest paid

    • Shareholders 18 996 22 224 - -

18 996 22 224 - -

    Interest received
    • Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd 7 953 9 574 - -

7 953 9 574 - -

(vii) Administration fees received from related parties 

    • Berekisanang Empowerment Farm (Pty) Ltd 1 358 1 454 - -
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50. Directors' emoluments

Executive

29 February 2020

Cash-based remuneration
Figures in R'000

Salaries Total cash-
based

emoluments
LE Coetzer 2 388 2 388
P Malan 1 488 1 488
AC Neethling 1 632 1 632
AJ Uys 2 820 2 820

8 328 8 328

28 February 2019

Cash-based remuneration
Figures in R'000

Salaries Pension fund
contributions

Medical aid
contributions

Total cash-
based

emoluments
LE Coetzer 2 187 72 12 2 271
P Malan 1 392 - - 1 392
AC Neethling 1 536 - - 1 536
AJ Uys 2 610 98 8 2 716

7 725 170 20 7 915

Equity-based remuneration Number of
appreciation
rights as at 1
March 2018

Number of appreciation
rights during the year

Vesting price
per share

Vesting date Number of
appreciation

rights as at 29
February

2019
Granted Forfeited

LE Coetzer 9 637 - (9 637) 73.38 15/03/2019 -
9 637 - (9 637) 81.88 15/03/2020 -
9 636 - (9 636) 88.70 15/03/2021 -
9 636 - (9 636) 94.51 15/03/2020 -

38 546 - (38 546) -

FGG Joubert 8 660 - (8 660) 73.38 15/03/2019 -
8 660 - (8 660) 81.88 15/03/2020 -
8 660 - (8 660) 88.70 15/03/2021 -
8 659 - (8 659) 94.51 15/03/2022 -

34 639 - (34 639) -

AJ Uys 19 642 - (19 642) 73.38 15/03/2019 -
19 642 - (19 642) 81.88 15/03/2020 -
19 641 - (19 641) 88.70 15/03/2021 -
19 641 - (19 641) 94.51 15/03/2022 -

78 566 - (78 566) -

Total 151 751 - (151 751) -
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50. Directors' emoluments (continued)

Non-executive

29 February 2020

Directors' fees
R'000

Total

DG de Kock 427 427
CD Flemming 119 119
RE Goff 122 122
JB McGrath 282 282
CA Smith 305 305
DCH Uys 292 292
MR van Breda 388 388
JHP van der Merwe 205 205
YJ Visser 486 486

2 626 2 626

28 February 2019

Directors' fees
R'000

Total

DG de Kock 413 413
JB McGrath 219 219
CA Smith 282 282
DCH Uys 299 299
MR van Breda 354 354
JHP van der Merwe 208 208
YJ Visser 388 388

2 163 2 163
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51. Summarised information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed
for each subsidiary are based on those included in the consolidated financial statements before inter-company eliminations.

2020 2019
R'000 R'000

51.1 Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd

Non-controlling interest percentage 39.58% 48.95%

Summarised statement of financial position:

Current assets 279 925 256 125
Current liabilities (182 178) (191 639)
Non-current assets 577 517 422 421
Non-current liabilities (325 174) (207 884)

Net assets 350 090 279 023

Accumulated non-controlling interests 138 565 158 451

Summarised statement of comprehensive income:

Revenue 4 229 193 4 070 336

Net profit 50 552 51 917
Other comprehensive income (87) 19

Total comprehensive income 50 465 51 936

Profit allocated to non-controlling interest 19 523 25 413

Summarised statement of cash flows:

Cash flows from operating activities 65 160 55 037
Cash flows utilised in investing activities (84 833) (63 529)
Cash flows (utilised in) / from financing activities 65 530 (18 344)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 45 857 (26 836)
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51. Summarised information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)

2020 2019
R'000 R'000

51.2 Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd

Non-controlling interest percentage 34.98% 34.98%

Summarised statement of financial position:

Current assets 223 413 158 426
Current liabilities (9 837) (28 485)
Non-current assets 78 048 582 193
Non-current liabilities (649) (185 349)

Net assets 290 975 526 785

Accumulated non-controlling interests 101 706 184 808

Summarised statement of comprehensive income:

Revenue 112 852 24 060

Net profit 616 246 12 925
Other comprehensive income 258 -

Total comprehensive income 616 504 12 925

Profit allocated to non-controlling interest 100 964 6 315
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (167 969) (16 097)

Summarised statement of cash flows:

Cash flows from operating activities 49 511 27 766
Cash flows utilised in investing activities 556 846 (2 502)
Cash flows (utilised in) / from financing activities (520 345) (6 513)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 86 012 18 751

51.3 Moov Holdings (Pty) Ltd

Non-controlling interest percentage 18.65% 0.00%

Summarised statement of financial position:

Current liabilities (520) -
Non-current assets 274 717 -
Non-current liabilities (5 658) -

Net assets 268 539 -

Accumulated non-controlling interests 50 083 -

Summarised statement of comprehensive income:

Net loss (520) -
Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive loss (520) -

Loss allocated to non-controlling interest (97) -

51.4   Other non-controlling interests:

Other non-controlling interests 36 609 49 580
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52. Interests in consolidated controlled entities

The Group has effective control of the Overberg Agri Development Trust, Woza Phambili Enterprises (Pty) Ltd, Acorn Manco (Pty) Ltd, Acorn Manco 2 (Pty)
Ltd, Umti Umkhulu Industrial Fund, AEE Fund and Overberg Agri Finance (RF) Ltd. The assets, liabilities and results of these entities are consolidated with
those of the Group.

53. Going concern

Acorn Agri and Food entered the Covid–19 lockdown with a strong balance sheet, positioning it well for the uncertain and volatile business climate which is
expected to continue for the immediate future. The Group’s future growth will still be driven by the successful execution of its strategy, while continuing to
manage cash flow and ensure that debt levels remain at the current levels.

Operating efficiencies initiatives aimed to reduce costs, lower working capital and improved productivity remains a key focus in all companies.

54. Events after the reporting period

During March 2020 the South African Government declared a national state of disaster due to the COVID-19 pandemic. To help contain the spread of the virus,
SA was placed into an extended period of lockdown.  The COVID-19 pandemic is having a devastating impact all around the world and across all industries. It
is virtually impossible at this stage to quantify the impact of the aforementioned on our economy, businesses and our people.

Although most of Acorn Agri and Food businesses are essential services/foods businesses  that have been allowed to keep trading during the lockdown, the
significant decline in trading activity with the consumer constrained, the profitability of Acorn Agri and Food will likely be adversely impacted. 

All of the companies in the Group have assessed the immediate impact of COVID-19 on their respective businesses and put contingency and remedial plans in
place where possible. In the meantime, the Group and its investees are doing its best to minimise the financial impact of COVID-19 on its clients and
employees.

We also draw your attention to note 27 where details are disclosed of a breach of covenants in respect of the Group’s revolving credit facility of R2,250 million.
A covenant waiver was subsequently obtained and the Group’s ability to draw on this facility will not be impeded by the breach.

At year-end the Group has approximately R511 million in cash and R85 million undrawn debt facilities. As a result management  believes the Group has
sufficient liquidity to manage the impact of COVID-19. Due to the access to liquidity available to the Group and cash-saving strategies being implemented
across the Group,  Acorn Agri and Food Ltd is of the view that it will be a going concern for the foreseeable future.

No further material events, knowledge of which would have influenced the users of the statements in making accurate evaluations and decisions, took place
after the date of the financial statements until the approval thereof.

83



Acorn Agri and Food Limited and its subsidiaries

Annexure A for the year ended 29 February 2020

1. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES OF ACORN AGRI AND FOOD LTD

Shares at cost price

2020
#

Shares

2019
#

Shares

2020

R'000

2019

R'000

AAF Invest (Pty) Ltd (100% interest) 460 000 460 000 1 439 900 1 439 900

Nature of business: Investment company
Contribution to Group profit: -R73,811,327 (2019: -R183,888,006)

2. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES OF OVERBERG AGRI BEDRYWE (PTY) LTD

Shares at cost price 2020
#

Shares

2019
#

Shares

2020

R'000

2019

R'000

Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd (0% interest [2019: 51.05%]) - 486 - 162 183

Nature of business: Supply and delivery of wholesale petroleum products
Contribution to Group profit: R30,543,399 (2019: R26,503,540)

Overberg Wealth and Risk Management (Pty) Ltd (70.00% interest) 29 529 761 29 529 761 28 220 28 220

Nature of business: Supply of insurance related services
Contribution to Group profit: R3,846,556 (2019: R2,576,769)

Principle place of business: 11 Donkin Street, Caledon, 7230
Profit associated to non-controlling interest during the reporting year: R1,648,524
Accumulated non-controlling interest at the end of the reporting year: R11,791,613
Dividend paid to minority shareholder during the reporting year: R2,927,965

Please refer to note 51 for summarised financial information of Overberg Wealth and Risk Management (Pty) Ltd.

28 220 190 403
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3. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES OF AAF INVEST (PTY) LTD

Shares at cost price

2020
#

Shares

2019
#

Shares

2020

R'000

2019

R'000

Boltfast (Pty) Ltd (74% interest) 100 100 13 475 37 501

Nature of business: Buying and selling of industrial fasteners
Contribution to Group profit: -R1,875,749 (2019: -R15,194,235)

Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd (74% interest) 20 000 20 000 37 501 37 501

Nature of business: Lime mine that produces hydrated lime, feed lime and agricultural lime
Contribution to Group profit: R1,281,655 (2019: R4,024,552)

Principle place of business: Swellendam Road, Bredasdorp, 7280
Profit associated to non-controlling interest during the reporting year: R450,311
Accumulated non-controlling interest at the end of the reporting year: R35,649,302
Dividend paid to minority shareholder during the reporting year: R282,806

Please refer to note 51 for summarised financial information of Bontebok Limeworks (Pty) Ltd.

Overberg Meat (Pty) Ltd (100% interest) 638 500 638 500 11 250 11 250

Nature of business: Operates abattoir
Contribution to Group profit: R4,246,647 (2019: R4,102,107)

Overberg Agri Bedrywe (Pty) Ltd (100% interest) 79 238 112 79 238 112 2 442 2 442

Nature of business: Supply and delivery of agriculture-related products and services
Contribution to Group profit: -R21,983,339 (2019: R87,326,527)

Overberg Agri Management Services (Pty) Ltd (100% interest) 1 000 1 000 - 20

Nature of business: Dormant
Contribution to Group profit: R nil (2019: R2,647,296)

AAF Services (Pty) Ltd (100% interest) 1 000 1 000 - -

Nature of business: Group administration company
Contribution to Group profit: R6,681,305 (2019: -R7,098,044)

The Health Food Group (Pty) Ltd (100% interest) 9 000 9 000 219 100 531 350

Nature of business: Investment holding company
Contribution to Group profit: -R121,191,158 (2019: R25,990,814)

AgVentures (Pty) Ltd (100% interest [2019: 0%]) 25 000 - 24 001 -

Nature of business: Health and food industry
Contribution to Group profit: -R15,434 (2019: R nil)

Umti Umkhulu Industrial Fund (100% interest [2019: 0%]) - - 33 038 -

Nature of business: Black empowerment fund
Contribution to Group profit: R nil (2019: R nil)

ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd (98.44% interest) 5 951 5 951 421 174 421 174

Nature of business: Engaged in the agriculture sectors with operations encompassing the entire
value chain, including primary production, fruit packaging, exporting and marketing of a diverse
range of agricultural products
Contribution to Group profit: -R177,236,452 (2019: -R15,191,906)

Principle place of business: Block F, Belvedere Office Park, Bella Rosa Street, Durbanville, 7550
Loss associated to non-controlling interest during the reporting year: -R2,808,704
Accumulated non-controlling interest at the end of the reporting year: R6,208,105
Dividend paid to minority shareholder during the reporting year: R nil

Please refer to note 51 for summarised financial information of ACG Fruit (Pty) Ltd.

Moov Holdings (Pty) Ltd (81.35% interest [2019: 0%]) 820 804 - 218 965 -

Nature of business: Holding company
Contribution to Group profit: -R423,020 (2019: R nil)

Principle place of business: 8 Fabriek Road, Bredasdorp, 7280
Loss associated to non-controlling interest during the reporting year: -R96,980
Accumulated non-controlling interest at the end of the reporting year: R50,082,445
Dividend paid to minority shareholder during the reporting year: R nil

Please refer to note 51 for summarised financial information of Moov Holdings (Pty) Ltd.

980 946 1 041 238
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4. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES OF THE HEALTH FOOD GROUP (PTY) LTD

Shares at cost price

2020
#

Shares

2019
#

Shares

2020

R'000

2019

R'000

Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd (65.02% interest) 206 378 206 378 182 750 495 000

Nature of business: Investment holding company
Contribution to Group profit: R400,682,767 (2019: R11,738,127)

Principle place of business: Groenvlei Farm, Gouda, 6821
Profit associated to non-controlling interest during the reporting year: R100,963,473
Accumulated non-controlling interest at the end of the reporting year: R101,705,695
Dividend paid to minority shareholder during the reporting year: R167,968,721

Please refer to note 51 for summarised financial information of Grassroots Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd.

Montagu Dried Fruit and Nuts (Pty) Ltd (100% interest) 1 000 1 000 36 350 11 849

Nature of business: Packing and selling of dried fruit, nuts and related products
Contribution to Group profit: -R9,300,737 (2019: -R530,107)

Health Food Services (Pty) Ltd (100% interest [2019: 0%]) 2 000 - 2 -

Nature of business: Administration company for The Health Food Group
Contribution to Group profit: -R302,937 (2019: R nil)

219 102 506 849

5. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES OF MOOV HOLDINGS (PTY) LTD

Shares at cost price

2020
#

Shares

2019
#

Shares

2020

R'000

2019

R'000

Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd (51.05% interest [2019: 0%]) 486 - 269 059 -

Nature of business: Supply and delivery of wholesale petroleum products
Contribution to Group profit: R30,543,399 (2019: R nil)

Principle place of business: 8 Fabrieks Road, Bredasdorp, 7280
Profit associated to non-controlling interest during the reporting year: R19,522,520
Accumulated non-controlling interest at the end of the reporting year: R138,565,444
Dividend paid to minority shareholder during the reporting year: R nil

Please refer to note 51 for summarised financial information of Moov Fuel (Pty) Ltd.

The total profit / loss for the year of the subsidiaries differ from the Group's profit due to intergroup transactions eliminated upon consolidation. The
abovementioned subsidiaries are all incorporated in South Africa. The subsidiaries are consolidated in accordance with IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements.
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